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During 2018 Valletta is serving as the European Capital of Culture.  In our annual 
report we chose to focus on some of the initiatives undertaken by the Maltese self-
government during its first years when extensive areas in the city and Floriana, including 
City Gate, were returned by the British War Department to the Maltese administration in 
1922.  See pages 4, 9, 17, 28, 43, 48-61.
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“The mission of the National Archives is to preserve the collective memory
of the Maltese nation through the preservation and accessibility of all public archives.”
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“The mission of the National Archives is to preserve the collective memory
of the Maltese nation through the preservation and accessibility of all public archives.”



4 Works on Ġlormu Cassar Avenue, Valletta (1927-1930).  National Archives of Malta PHO 2011
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Foreword

Once more, we are presenting our annual report to Parliament 
and to our clients bringing together our main achievements.  

Last year I indicated that during 2017 we planned to 
focus on human resources, the organisation of a number of archives-
related EU Presidency meetings and to step our efforts in favour of 
building a new national archives.  Now is the time to review our work 
in these three areas.  

During last year we strengthened our human resources through 
the recruitment of seven persons.  Five of these form the new team in 
charge of the MEMORJA project.  While we acknowledge that a lot 
has been achieved since the launch of the national memory project 
in 2004, we still lacked permanency and resources.  In 2017 we have 
put the project on a stronger footing by assigning specific personnel 
to it.  Now the project has an administrator and a number of full and 
part time employees.  Another person is giving the academic input 
to the project, and in collaboration with the ministry responsible 
for transport, another person is focusing on public transport as a 
research dimension in the project.

While expanding our human resources, we also kept our focus on 
in-house training and supporting our staff to enhance their training 
and qualifications.  I am proud to say that a substantial number of our 
personnel are undergoing tertiary level training.  

The EU Presidency brought big challenges to our country, not less 
to the archives sector.  We managed to organise all the meetings for 
the archives domain, ranging from the policy such as EBNA and EAG 
to the technical areas, such as the DLM Forum and the meetings of 
Heads of Conservation.  The meetings were well-attended, organised 
in a highly professional manner to the smallest detail, and discussed 
topics relevant to the domain.  The dedication and commitment of all 
my staff and the support we found from the responsible teams at the 
Ministry for Education and Employment and the Ministry responsible 
for Malta’s Presidency of the EU Council made this possible.   

We kept our pressure on the authorities for the building of 
a new national archive to provide us with the necessary space, 
environmental conditions and better user services and pushed 
the political parties to include this commitment in their electoral 
programmes. The commitment to build a state-of-the-art national 
archive is now included in the electoral manifesto of the current 
administration.  We look forward to further interesting developments 
on this project during the coming years.

 Last year we also reached some ground-breaking agreements 
covering audio-visual records as well as confraternities’ and band 
clubs’ archives.  Now is the time to build on the agreements towards 
tangible results on each and lead through our expertise and energy.  
We need to sustain further the records officers in the respective 
government entities.  In collaboration with the University of Malta 
we hope to widen the opportunities of professional training for all 
those involved in records management.  

Although the challenges abound I am sure that now that we 
have the whole structure in place, the National Archives can look 
optimistically at its future.  Once the decisions on the site of the new 
building are taken we can start planning the future of our organisation 
for the next decades.  The statistics, details and photos in this annual 
report indicate a strong foundation that can only be a guarantee of 
a bright future.     

Dr Charles J Farrugia
National Archivist and CEO

“... I am sure 

that now that we have the 

whole structure in place, 

the National Archives 

can look optimistically 

at its future.”
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The main duties and responsibilities of this Unit are the management of human resources, procurement, 
stores, logistics and general administration of the premises. Apart from the daily administration 
management of the Head Office in Rabat, Malta, that is a core function, the Unit has four further functions.

• Procurement is the core function that this Unit manages. Tender procedures for large purchases are undertaken 
by this Unit. Other relatively small purchases require quotations for the goods or services to be obtained and 
the Unit has the task of ascertaining that the best quality is being obtained at the cheapest possible price.

• HR related administration like leave records, roster planning and the staff records are managed by this 
Unit. Further to the administrative tasks, recruitment of new employees and staff development are further 
responsibilities of the Corporate Services Management Unit.

• The Unit also deals with the drafting, monitoring and execution of policies related to HR and administration.  
It is also entrusted with the coordinating role in the management of Parliamentary Questions (PQs). During 
2017, the Unit provided responses to 49 Parliamentary Questions. 

• The administration of the Rabat premises includes items like filing, structural and assets’ maintenance, 
management and compilation of reports, including HR related reports, as requested by various government 
authorities and ministries, and overall day to day running of the premises like management of cleaning 
services etc.

Administration and Human Resources Development
Recruitment
Human resources infrastructure was strengthened in January 2017 when, in line with the exigencies of the Memorja 
Project, a recruitment process was concluded and five new employees joined the NAM team. Subsequently they 
were enrolled in appropriate training sessions, in house and outsourced, and the project was thus effectively 
launched. 

Staff training
Staff training during the year included the attendance by various staff members to general and specialised 
training sessions together with attendance to international meetings and conferences, held both locally and 
abroad. The exposure to new methodology and ideas that these conferences and training sessions offer to the 
members of staff is considerable. Several knowledge management sessions were held and these are devised 
to spread the knowledge gained by the single employee to all the staff whose work would benefit from the 
knowledge obtained. This was done through various theoretical and practical in house training sessions held at 
the Archives’ premises.

Further training on procurement, front office skills and customer care were attended by a number of employees 
to further strengthen the agency’s performance in these vital areas.

Tenders
During 2017, one tender was issued. This concerned the call for the supply, delivery and installation of servers, 
network Storage and cabinet. Acting according to the new procurement provisions, this was re-issued by the 
MEDE Procurement division and the agency assisted by preparing specifications and tender documents as well 
as conducting the evaluation process.

Corporate Services Management Unit 
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Collective Agreement
A new collective agreement for the 
NAM employees was concluded with 
the Union Ħaddiema Maqgħudin, 
Voice of the Workers. The signing took 
place at the Head Office on the 29th 
September 2017. This agreement will 
expire on the 31st December 2020. 
This new agreement consolidates 
further the strong commitment that 
the NAM has, to nurture and develop 
the right skills in the sector by 
attracting professionals in the field, 
who are eager to pursue a career in 
the archival sector. The agreement introduces new grades at senior level and provides for better conditions for 
the employees including a salary increase per year for the next three years.

Maintenance of Buildings
Following a call for tenders in 2016, the restoration of the back façade of the Santo Spirito building was carried 
out by a private contractor with the collaboration and technical supervision of the Restoration Directorate. 
The restoration process dealt with the deterioration of the façade that was the result of the exposure and 
orientation, salt contamination, biological attack, material properties of the stone, lack of maintenance, human 
intervention, structural defects, installation of superfluous accretions and pollution caused by heavy traffic of 
Nicolo Saura Street. The various causes of deterioration had given rise to loss of pointing, deterioration of 
mortars and masonry, old repairs, later and contemporary additions, mechanical damage and loss of structural 
integrity, soiling and biological infestation.

A scaffolding was erected, suspended from 
the highest point of the façade and all safety 
precautions were undertaken to safeguard 
the uninterrupted use of the pavement by 
pedestrians and the safety of restorers on duty. 
The façade was professionally restored and its 
beauty regained.

During the year in review the National Archives 
embarked on the refurbishment of both public 
and staff sanitary facilities. This was long overdue 
and both rooms were refurbished in a way that 
bathroom facilities were doubled and completely 
renovated into modern ones with energy saving 
appliances. The project was done by private 
contractors under the supervision of a contracted 
architect following the publication of a call for 
quotes.

Linked to the Memorja Project, a large amount 
of office space was cleared from a huge quantity of 
unused documents and the place was refurbished 
in-house by the agency’s handyman. Beams 
were tested and professional restoration and   
strengthening of a few of these was carried out. 
Another room adjacent to the latter was divided 
to house the new server with its’ ancillary units and 
other specific sensitive collections.

Due to the need for more depository space for 
new accessions, a further additional two halls were 
allocated to the National Archives at the Ospizio 
in Floriana. The sites were cleared of accumulated 
debris and other material. Works were carried out 
to secure the place by installing heavy duty metal 
doors. 
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  New public reception facilities were installed at ground floor level at the entrance of Santo Spirito. A 
room was cleared of unserviceable items and unused documents. It was refurbished and decorated with 
curtains and office furniture to cater also for day to day public enquiries that can be dealt with outside the 
Reading Room.

The Santo Spirito seventeeth century Lorenzo Gafà chapel was cleared from all documents that was depriving 
it of its main function, that of serving as a communal hall for seminars, visiting groups, lectures and meetings. 
It was transformed into a conference room and used for not less than five conferences held in conjunction 
with Malta’s Presidency of the Council of the European Union. Sound and lighting facilities were improved and 
renovation works was also done on the main entrance to the chapel overlooking the internal yard and on the two 
existing altars. Water proofing of some areas of the chapel’s roof was also carried out.

Pigeon roosting deterrents were fixed at strategic locations as part of the on-going process to try to control 
and diminish this persistent problem. 

Team-building

In collaboration with the 
Office of the President of 
the Republic, a social event 
was organised in spring for 
the Archives’ staff and their 
families. The tour around 
the Verdala Palace at Buskett 
event was another activity 
that contributed to the better 
social interaction between 
colleagues and their families.



9Works on Ġlormu Cassar Avenue, Valletta (1927-1930).  National Archives of Malta PHO 2012
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Records Management

Onsite Inspections

As in previous years, during 2017 the Records Management Unit (RMU) continued to perform visits 
and inspections to the records repositories of various public entities, departments and ministries. 
The main objectives of these inspections and visits are to identify historical records and arrange 

for their transfer to the National Archives, give consultation on good records management practices to 
the concerned entity and start the procedure for the implementation of an official retention policy that is 
endorsed by the National Archives under the provisions of the National Archives Act (Cap 477). See table for 
the full list of entities that were supported by the Records Management Unit during the year under review.

Appraisal of records

In cases of emergencies or in the case of closed dormant records collections that are no longer required by 
the concerned entity, the National Archives issues a letter of appraisal with the decision taken on the case 
in question. During 2017 the National Archives issued a number of such letters which helped entities to 
decongest their repositories. 

Letters of Appraisal Issued in 2017

Ref. No. Entity Subject

2017-01 Water Service Corporation Appraisal of purchasinq invoices

2017-02 Ministry for Education and Employment (MEDE) Appraisal of financial records

2017-03 Ministry for Education and Employment (MEDE) Appraisal of printing negatives

2017-04 Balzan Local Council Payment records

2017-05 MEDE - Appraisal of printed emails re opening of files Appraisal of printed emails re opening 
of files

2017-06 Health-Central Procurement and Supplies Appraisal of goods received notes and 
invoices

2017-07 Department for Social Welfare Standards Social work files

Retention Policies

Following lengthy discussions that were initiated in 2016, during 2017 the National Archives and the 
Electoral Office agreed on a retention policy for all the records that are created and managed by the 
latter. This retention policy has been signed by the National Archivist and the Electoral Commissioner and 
implemented in April 2017.
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Retention Policies implemented in 2017

Ref. No. Entity

2017-01 Electoral Office 

2017-02 MEDE - Examinations Department

2017-03 Mater Dei Hospital - Child Nursery Records

2017-04 University of Malta - Child Care Centre Records

Accessions

During the year under review the National Archives continued accessioning public records that are deemed 
to have enduring historical value. Most of the accessions occurred after that the respective repositories were 
visited by the RMU and the value of these records was assessed. 

The major accessions of public records recorded in 2017 include the technical and administrative records 
of the Marsa Power Plant from Enemalta, the historical records of the Office of the President of the Republic, 
records from the Economic Policy Department and the Public Registry Card Index from Identity Malta. 
Apart from accessioning public records that are under its legal remit, along the years the National Archives 
has also been trusted as the repository for private records that are deemed to have historical value. 2017 
was a particularly special year in this regard, because it has seen the National Archives being trusted with 
the whole collection of the private papers and memorabilia that used to belong to Sir Anthony Mamo. 

Accession 
Ref.

Source Extent

2017-01 Private Deposit by the Mamo Family - Private records and memorabilia of Sir 
Anthony Mamo (ca. 1931-2009)

18 boxes and 14 
framed records 
(ca. 4m of 
shelving) 

2017-02 Grand Harbour Regeneration Corporation (GHRC) - Arch. Renzo Piano designs of 
the Parliament of Malta

7 plans (digital 
and printed 
format)

2017-03 Office of the President of the Republic - Records of the Office of the President 
(ca.1990-2000s)

ca. 30m of 
shelving

2017-04 Social Security Administration Records ca. 5m of 
shelving

2017-05 Malta College of Arts Science and Technology (MCAST) - Personal working papers 
of Harbour Master - William Scicluna

ca. 0.5m of 
shelving

2017-06 Private Deposit by Richard Stendall - Malta Bus Archive Foundation - Issues of the 
Malta's Transport Nostalgia and News 20 publications

2017-07 Private Deposit by Steve Borg - Funeral Cards 1 A5 envelope

2017-08 St Margaret College - Cospicua School Log Books (1943 - 1994) 4 volumes

2017-09 Economic Policy Department - general files created by the Economic Policy 
Department (1966 -1972) 14m of shelving

2017-10 Anonymous Private Deposit - Files created by the Water Works Department (1959-1970) 2 files

2017-11 Enemalta - Technical Records of the Marsa Powerplant
11 cabinets, 
and ca. 20m of 
shelving

2017-12 Recovered by Vincent Schembri - Financial records re Public Gardens (1878 - 1935) ca. 0.5m of 
shelving

2017-13 Faculty of Media and Knowledge Sciences (UoM) - St Michael's Training College 
Photograghs (ca1950s-1970s)

ca. 2000 
photographs

2017-14 Office of the President of the Republic - General records of the Office of the 
Governor General and the President of the Republic (1960s-2000s) 13m of shelving
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2017-15 Ministry for Education and Employment - Sample of printing negatives of education 
publications (1990s) 1 A1 folder

2017-16 Office of the Prime Minister - Official Photo albums of the Prime Minister (1950s) 3 albums

2017-17 Private Deposite by Marlene Cassar - Mike Cassar Collection ca. 6m of 
shelving

2017-18 Department of Industrial and Employment Relations - Indexes for Passage 
Assistance Records (1950s - 1990s) 3m of shelving

2017-19 Private Deposit by Jean Craig - Photograph Album containing photos of various 
locations in Malta that used to belong to Thomas Robinson (ca.1930s/1940s) 1 photo album

2017-20 Ministry for Health - Health Rehabilitation Services - Sample of Personal Files (1990s) 2 files
2017-21 Reclaim of Public Records - Superior Courts File 1 file
2017-22 Private Deposit by Michael Ellul - Photographs of various public works 21 photos

2017-23 Private Deposit by Richard Cumbo - Maltese-Canadian Museum Leaflets & Ephemera 1 dossier and 2 
framed items

2017-24 Private Deposit by Peter Paul Ciantar - VHS Tapes - Footage of variouse Maltese 
activities and interviews 13 VHS tapes

2017-25 Office of the President of the Republic - Records created during HE Guido De Marco 
Presidency (1999 - 2004)

ca. 8m of 
shelving

2017-26 Private Deposit by Mary Attard - Photographs and records of Antonio & Paolo Borg 
(early 20th century)

8 photos, 1 
passport, 1 card 
and 14 paper 
records

2017-27 Floriana Primary School - School records and photographs (1936-1993) 0.5m of 
shelving

2017-28 Private Deposit by Alex Abela - Alex Abela, 3/11 Regiment Collection (1940s-1970s) 26 files (508MB)

2017-29 Private Deposit by John Chircop - Photographic slides of remains of Train and Tram 
parts, and stations (1988-89) 33 slides

2017-30 Ministry for Education & Employment - Examinations Records ca. 10m of 
shelving

2017-31 Private Deposit by Otto Henry - Digital Images of Various Maltese Locations (1972) 137 digital 
images 

2017-32 Private Deposit by Natalino Fenech - Photograph of the Attard  - Malta Volunteer 
Defence Force (1941)

1 digital image 
(4.6MB)

2017-33 Private Deposit by Anthony Henry Abela - Funeral Card - Col. John Lewis Francia 
(1934) 1 card

2017-34 Private Deposit by Anthony Henry Abela - Expired Maltese Passport of Mario Abela 
(1957) 1 passport

2017-35 Private Deposit by Anthony Blackman - Scripts of Plays  - Giovanni Abela Collection 
(1930s) 31 volumes

2017-36 Private Depost by Michael Ellul - Various records 1m of shelving

2017-37 Private Deposit by Albert Von Brockdorff - Records related to Composer Lt. Col. 
Robert Samut 1 A4 folder

2017-38 Private Deposit by Anthony Henry Abela - Family records and photos of locations in 
Malta (1930s-1940s)

44 photographs 
and 1 passport

2017-39 Private Deposit by the Louis Curmi Family - The Louis Curmi Collection re public 
transport and other various aspects of the Maltese Society 1m of shelving

2017-40 Identity Malta - Public Registry Card Index for Births, Marriages and Deaths Records 36 drawer 
cabinets

2017-41 Department for Social Welfare Standards - Sample of Social Work Files (1957-2007) 1m of shelving

2017-42 Private Deposit by Richard Cumbo - Photos re Maltese in Canada (1930s-2003) 6 digital images 
(3.03 MB)

Accession 
Ref.

Source Extent
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2017-43 Private Deposit by Paul Calafato - Saulus Press records and memorabilia collection ca.0.5m of 
shelving

2017-44 Ministry for Education and Employment (Back Office) - School registers (1881 - 1957) 11 volumes

2017-45 Dingli Local Council - Book registers of the Dingli District Library (1930s-1980s) 17 volumes

Processing of historical records still held by public entities

When historical records are identified, the originating office is instructed on a way forward for the preparation 
for the transfer of such records to the National Archives. The preparations include sorting, finding the original 
order, cleaning (when necessary), placing into archival quality boxes and listing. In cases where the records 
have traces of pest contamination, the records are to be professionally treated before being transferred. 
The treatment process is done under the qualified guidance and supervision of the NAM Conservators. 

Public Entities supported by the Records 
Management Unit during 2017

Commerce Department

Department for Local Government

Department of Probation and Parole

Economic Policy Department

Electoral Office

Floriana Primary School

Foundation for Medical Services

Heritage Malta

Identity Malta

Law Courts

Malta College of Arts Science and Technology (MCAST) 
- Library

Malta Gaming Authority

Malta Police Force - Criminal Investigation Department

Marsa Primary School

Mater Dei Hospital

Mater Dei Hospital - Child Nursery

Medical Council

Private Entities supported by the Records 
Management Unit

L-Akkademja tal-Malti

Għaqda Każini tal-Banda

Għaqda Madonna tal-Grazzja Banda San Mikiel Żabbar 

Malta Aviation Museum

Ministry for Education and Employment (MEDE) 

(MEDE)  - Back Office (Xagħra)

(MEDE)  - Examinations Department

(MEDE)  - Student Services Department

Ministry For Energy and Health 

Ministry for the Family and Social Solidarity

Ministry of Finance

Office of the Attorney General

Office of the President of the Republic

Office of the Prime Minister

Planning Authority

Public Service Commission

Social Work Service - Education Psycho-Social Services

Transport Malta

University of Malta - Child Care Centre

Valletta 2018 Foundation

Water Services Corporation

 

Richard Ellis Archive

Soċjetà Filarmonika La Vittoria, Mellieħa 

Simonds Farsons Cisk plc (Museum & Archive)

The Scouts Association of Malta
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The Records Officers Forum

During 2017 four sessions of the Records Officers Forum, set up in November 2016, were held. During 
these sessions a number of presentations were delivered by participants and guest speakers from both the 
public and private sector. The presentations were followed by a discussion chaired by the National Archivist 
with the support of the NAM Records Management Unit. The participants discussed their work and brought 
forward issues they were encountering in their respective entities. 

Records Officers Forum  - 2017 Sessions

Date Participants Entities represented Presentations

8 Mar 8

Office of the Prime Minister (OPM), 
Ministry for Transport & Infrastructure 
(MTI), Ministry for Justice, Culture 
& Local Government (MJCL), 
Ministry for Gozo (MGOZ), House of 
Representatives - Parliament of Malta, 
Planning Authority

Lecture entitled:  Multi-Level Governance by  Dr Mario 
Thomas Vassallo, Lecturer, Public Policy, FEMA, University of 
Malta
Presentation on Records Management within the Ministry 
for Education & Employment by Mary Anne Farrugia, MEDE 
Records Officer
Presentation on Records Management within the Ministry for 
Justice, Culture and Local Government by Mariella Galea, 
MJCL Records Officer

10 May 6 MTIP, MJCL, MEDE, MGOZ, Enemalta 
PLC, Planning Authority

Talk on Digital Preservation: Creating Value with Digital 
Preservation: Building an Accessible and Dynamic Digital 
Archive by Ann Keen, Preservica

21 Aug 10

MTIP, MJCL, MEDE, MGOZ, Mater 
Dei Hospital, Heritage Malta, Identity 
Malta, Planning Authority, Building 
Control Board (OPM)

Presentation about the MEMORJA Project by James 
Baldacchino, NAM Administrator (Memorja Project) 

Presentation on the archives of the Parliament of Malta by 
Eric Frendo,  Archivist at the Parliament of Malta

11 Oct 9

MGOZ, MTIP, MEDE, MJCL,  Heritage 
Malta, House of Representatives - 
Parliament of Malta, European Asylum 
Support Office 

Presentation by the records management system at the 
European Asylum Support Office by Simona Cantarella – 
Document Information Officer, European Asylum Support Office 

Presentation on Records Management within the Ministry of 
Gozo by Joseph Grima,  MGOZ

Donation of the Louis Curmi Collection (Accession 2017-39)
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Highlights of Records Officers’ activities within their ministries

The National Archives Act (Cap 477, Art 16) stipulates that there should be a records officer in every public 
entity. This provision started being officially implemented in the end of 2016 by placing 5 records officers 
at ministerial level. During 2017, these records officers started their work by mapping the administrative 
structures such as; units, departments and entities that fall under the remit of their respective ministry. The 
main duties of these records officers are to assure good records management practices and be the contact 
persons between the National Archives and the ministries. Through the work of these records officers the 
National Archives is driving to have in place a retention policy for the all the records created by public 
offices. In 2017 there has already been tangible progress in this regard especially in a number of ministries. 
More records officers will be allocated to other ministries during 2018, and in the coming years it is hoped 
that there will be a Records Officer in every Ministry. 

Ministry Intra-
ministerial 
meetings 
held

Development of retention policies Appraisal exercises Transfer of records to National Archives

OPM (Building 
Regulations 
Office)

1 1
-  Building Regulations Office being  

 developed

1
- Building Regulations 

Office’s records 
appraisal criteria 
being developed

_

Ministry for 
Transport and 
Infrastructure  

12
_ _ _

Ministry for 
Justice, Culture 
and Local 
Government

22 4

-   Local Councils
-   Courts of Justice (Civil Courts)
-   Courts of Justice (Accounts   

 Department)
-  Identity Malta retention policies  

 being developed

1
- Balzan Local 

Council’s records 
appraised

1
Courts of Justice (Criminal Courts) records’ 
transfer process initiated

Ministry for Gozo 15
_ _

2
Works Department’s records transferred
Government Bank’s record transferred

Ministry for 
Education and 
Employment 

38 2
-  Child Care Centre – UOM
-  Examinations Department   

 retention policies finalised

5
-  Stores MEDE 

(Printing Negatives)
-  Stores MEDE 

(Accounts’ Records)
-  Stores MEDE (PQs)
-  Registry (General 

Files)
-  Floriana Primary 

(photos/registers)
 appraised

4
- Back Office Gozo (Students’ Registers) 

transferred
- Examinations Dept. (General Files) 

transferred
- Floriana Primary (Photos, Student’s 

Registers, Visitors’ Registers) transferred
- Stores (Published Books’ Negatives) 

transferred

10
- Accreditation Unit
- Dept. of Educational Services
- Education Logistics & Support Unit
- Exemptions Board
- Information Management Unit
- Migrants Learners Unit
- Quality Assurance Dept.
- Strategy & Support - Archiving of 

Old School Documents
- Student Services
- Ħamrun Primary retention policies 

being developed

1
- Registry MEDE (General Files) transfer 

process initiated
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The Mamo Collection (Accession 2017–1)

On October 24, 2017 the family of Sir Anthony Mamo (1909 – 2008) 
donated an extensive collection of records pertaining to this personality 
to the National Archives of Malta.

Sir Anthony Mamo was the first President of Malta.  Born in Birkirkara, 
Mamo was educated at the Seminary and the University of Malta where 
he earned a bachelor's degree in 1931 and his law degree in 1934. He 
was in private practice for a year before joining the civil service serving 
as Crown Counsel from 1942 and later on he became attorney general. 
He was appointed as Chief Justice of Malta in 1957 where he served until 
1971 when he was appointed as the first Maltese Governor-General. 

This 6-metre collection includes letters, notes, photos, footage and 
articles and sheds a unique light on Malta’s political, legal and social 
history during the second half of the 20th  century.

The collection spans between January 1924 (Sir Anthony’s examination 
result as Class III student at the Archbishop’s Seminary) and May 2008, a 
collection of condolence books from various Maltese embassies following 
his death.  It testifies to Sir Anthony’s personality, his legal scholarship, his 
warm ties to his hometown Birkirkara as well as his statesmanship.

Together with the records, the Mamo family donated to the National 
Archives Sir Anthony’s official gown as Chief Justice, his iconic hat as well 
as a hand bag that Italian President Giovanni Leone had donated to Lady 
Mamo.



17Works on Ġlormu Cassar Avenue, Valletta (1927-1930).  National Archives of Malta PHO 2017
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Archival Processing

The aim of Archives Processing Unit is to ensure that records of national significance are secured, 
described and preserved and made accessible to all those who want to use them in their research.
During 2017 the National Archives received several records from the various ministries and 

departments as well as from private collections. All records will be sorted and eventually catalogued. 

Internships

The National Archives developed its contacts with local schools, colleges and foreign agencies and 
offered a variety of activities as well as educational programs in internships. The tasks performed vary 
from administrative to archival skills, including electronic data management. Students are exposed to 
the documents so that they could familiarise themselves with the various records kept at the National 
Archives. A supervisor guides these students and teaches them how to clean, sort and re-box documents 
that are received from various departments, ministries and other public institutions as well as from private 
collections. This process serves as an induction to archival methodological skills that will also help them in 
their future research.  

Internships held at the National Archives

Course Organising 
Institution

Number of 
students/
hoursents/ 
hours

Training

Systems of 
Knowledge Junior College 4/80 Archival skills in particular sorting, cataloguing, data input, 

conservation laboratory

Bachelor in 
Knowledge and 
Information 
Management

University of Malta 2/20 Atom cataloguing training 

Diploma 
in Archives 
and Records 
Management

University of Malta 1/20 Archive operations 

German student
Azubi Mobil 
Bavarian State 
Library

1/100 Archival skills in particular cataloguing and data input, 
digitisations, conservation laboratory

Czech Republic 
student

Business Academy, 
Most 1/152 Archival skills in particular cataloguing and data input, 

digitisations, conservation laboratory
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Sorting / Cataloguing

Work on cataloguing projects, aided by a number of students and volunteers, is a core business function of 
the Archives Processing Unit that has been ongoing for several years. Last year, the sorting and boxing of 
the Passage Assistance Records (1948-1978) was undertaken and this exercise will be concluded soon.  In 
the meantime, the data of the Office of the Prime Minister fonds (OPM) started to be refined and several 
files that were been received from the OPM Registry were integrated. 

Cataloguing

Fonds  No. of Entries
Governor’s Despatches from (GOV) 450

Office of the Prime Minister (OPM) 655

Newspaper Cuttings Database 249

General Miscellaneous Reports (GMR) 256

Reorganisation and Relocation of Documents

Fonds
No of Volumes/ boxes / 
plans / files/ vols

Passage Assistance Records (PAR) 80 boxes 

Building Notices (1880-1959) ca.70 volumes

Police Records ca.1,800 files

Ministry for Education (Antiquities 
Section) (1921-1940s)

ca.2,400 files
 

 

Sorting, Cleaning and Reboxing of Documents

Fonds No of  Boxes / Bundles 

Passage Assistance Records (PAR) 
sorted by date, aircraft and ship 62 bundles

Digitisation

The digitisation priorities continued to focus on documents that are slightly damaged and volumes that have 
a tight spine. On September 1, 2017 the National Archives started permitting digital photography in all our 
reading rooms in line with our efforts to simplify access to our holdings. The record’s physical condition, 
copyright issues, donor restrictions and curatorial considerations may limit or prohibit such photography. 

Digitisation (requested by researchers against a fee)
Fonds No of images
Documents (GOV, CSG, ARP, Army, etc.) 1,216

Customs and Passport applications 357

TOTAL 1,573

The Map Room

The Map Room’s main exercise remained the scanning of thousands of Record Plans from the Ordnance 
Department and their inputting into the database (PDM Fond). 

Other scans were made from other fonds, such as CSG, PWD, Police Files, LGO and the Agricultural 
Land Registration Plans. Scans were also made for archives’ projects, such as the 1957 Gozo Tunnel Geo 
Survey and high resolution photographs for the Memorja Project.  
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Minor repairs on 347 damaged plans were carried out at the Map Room due to more urgent work at the 
Conservation Laboratory.

Apart the Database Digitising work, Number of Researchers and Students that made use or visited the 
Map Room in 2017 was of 93.

Map Room Activities

Items No of images

Plans scanned and inputted into database (PDM) 1,024

Digitised plans as ordered by researchers 626

Other scanned images (CSG, Police, PWD, Agricultural 
Land Registration Plans, LGO etc)

145

High resolution scans for internal use 263

Minor repairs 626

TOTAL 2,684
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Conservation Laboratory

Conservation Laboratory

Eighteen conservation jobs, involving two hundred and twenty three interventions,  were carried out by 
the Conservation Laboratory, during 2017. These involved material from eight different fonds, namely:  
MCC, AGR, CSG, OPR, ABP, LGO, TOU, and EDU. Five other conservation jobs involved material from 

private deposits within the National Archives: Vincenzo Maria Pellegrini, Għaqda Soċjalista Maltija, Sir Anthony 
Mamo and the Vella Bardon collections. Three of these interventions were carried out after notification from 
the Reading Room, whereby prioritisation of work is given to those items needing urgent treatment before 
being handed out for research. Another four conservation jobs were carried out for private entities or persons.

During the first few months of 2017 work continued on the long term project of conservation of 
documents from the Magna Curia Castellania (MCC). Thirty two bundles dating back to the years 1719 
to 1724 were processed involving conservation work on 643 folios. Another major conservation exercise 
started this year involves the Agricultural Land Registers. There are a total of three hundred and ninety 
seven of these registers. These are being restored prior to them being digitised; by the end of the year a 
total of one hundred and sixty three have been restored.

European Heads of Conservation meeting

Another major commitment for the conservation laboratory during 2017 was organising the meeting 
for European Heads of Conservation. This annual meeting is held in the country holding the European 
Presidency of the European Union.  Heads of Conservation of National Archives from most European Union 
member states meet to discuss topics related to conservation. This year’s meeting was held in May at the 
Head Office of the National Archives and saw a good participation of 21 delegates from 16 countries;  
Problems associated with working on documents with Iron Gall Ink and Manual for First Line of Conservation 
before Digitisation were the two main items on the agenda.

 
Inspections and Condition Reports

Three outside inspections were held to asses and report on the condition of the archival holdings held within 
them. The entities involved were Identity Malta, the Criminal Court, and the Società Filarmonica La Vittoria 
of Mellieħa. In each case a detailed report on the state of conservation of the holdings with suggestions 
for improvement of the holdings and the storage area was presented. Other entities which approached the 
Conservation Laboratory for advice were the Cospicua Scout Group and the Astra Theatre. 

Student Placements

This year we had seven students doing their work placement with the Conservation laboratory.  These 
students came from the University of Malta, Junior College, and the Giovanni Curmi Higher Secondary 
School. All students were introduced to life in the archives by a power point presentation on ‘Safe Handling 
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of Archival Materials.’ The work assigned to these students focused mainly on two on-going projects: the 
Prints, Drawings and Map collection (PDM) and the preservation of Police Records (1957 – 1960). Metal 
fixtures that are causing rust damage to the surface of the paper are removed and replaced with plastic 
coated metal clips or treasury tags with plastic ends. Then the documents are dry surface-cleaned and re-
boxed in archival quality boxes.  

Internship

This year we had the first ever foreign student doing an internship. Ms Rose Magee, a Bachelor’s degree 
student of Restoration and Conservation of Archaeological Artefacts from the HTW Berlin performed 135 
hours of conservation work under the direct supervision of the conservators during February/March.

Laboratory Tours and Visits 

Throughout 2017 a total of eleven visits were held at the Conservation Laboratory with the participation of 
around one hundred and eighty persons. These came from various local and international institutions and 
associations, different faculties from the University of Malta, the Junior College, the Giovanni Curmi Higher 
Secondary School, local Secondary Schools, and Local Councils.

Purchase of equipment and materials

We continued to procure additional material and equipment to further equip the conservation laboratory, 
including:

•	 Professional Photographic Copying Stand
•	 Optimiser Head Magnifiers (4)
•	 pH meter
•	 Tacking Irons (2)
•	 Press Stand Drill
•	 Bench Magnifier with LED lighting
•	 Conservation Heat Set Tissue (FilmoplastR, 3 rolls)
Other items were procured through sponsorship, these are Conservation Light Board (Consolato del 

Mare Fund); Photographic Conservation Sleeves and Boxes for the V.M. Pellegrini Collection (DFASinMalta); 
Metal Nipping Press, Bookcloth and Marbled Papers.
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Public Services

The Reading Room and its services are at the heart of the National Archives of Malta. 
The Public Services Unit is committed to ensure high level standards with regards to customer 

service offered to the public. Increased activity was registered in the three Reading Rooms at Rabat, 
Mdina and Victoria (Gozo) during 2017. 

The National Archives strives for excellence in its delivery of services and facilitates access to its records, 
including reference services, exhibitions, publications and on-line access. This year there was an increase 
of local and foreign queries. Most of the foreign requests are related to genealogical searches. On-site 
services are supported through a series of databases available in the main reading room. During the year 
under review, there has been an ongoing process to put online thousands of records in the Archives Portal 
Europe. Our main aim is to continue to strengthen this online interaction with the general public.

Customer Care

The statistics indicate that archives awareness has been very much on the increase during these last years.  
E-mail requests on our customer care services, requests for building permits, requests for assistance in 
the Emigration/Passage assistance records and Agricultural land registration requests have remained very 
popular. 

Last year the amount of customer care e-mail requests was greater than previous years; in fact it was 
the highest for the last five years. Circa 500 e-mail requests were received throughout 2017, which is a 10% 
increase on 2016. Similarly to last year, requests related to the passport applications’ records prevailed, 
followed by ex-military service records’ queries and requests for maps/plans of specific sites in Malta. 
Requests for birth and death records were also rather numerous. A number of requests for photographic 
material were also received. On the other hand, requests for arrivals and departures of passengers decreased 
from last year.

While requests from sixth form students to carry part of their Systems of Knowledge project at the 
National Archives were very few when compared to previous years, requests for tours and visits increased.  
This may indicate that the general public is becoming more aware of archives and their work. 

Customer care e-mail requests varied from both Maltese and foreign researchers, however a large 
number of requests were received from foreigners residing abroad, thus in most cases, research had to 
be carried out by National Archives staff on their behalf, against payment. Requests for maps/plans were 
more common amongst Maltese residents while passport applications were highly demanded by foreign 
residents. The number of requests for ex-servicemen military records and for birth and death records was 
almost at the same level for both Maltese and foreign residents. 

Another key service of the Reading Room services is providing assistance related to Building Notices 
and Emigration/Passage Assistance Records. 28 requests for assistance in tracing building permits were 
submitted during 2017 and 223 requests to view the original building permits were received.  During 2016 
these requests were 32 and 131.

Compared to 2016, requests for Emigration/Passage Assistance Records were lower during 2017: 28 
application requests were received of which 14 requests from Maltese residents and 14 requests from Gozo. 
Apart from these, another 7 requests by foreigners were sent via customer care. 
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Requests for applications in connection with agricultural land registration were numerous this year: 70 
applications received which is a slight decrease in the number of applications received during the previous 
year. 

From June 2017, clients (farmers, land owners or prospective land owners) request information from the 
agricultural land registration records held at our end, can only do so by appointment.

  
Head Office Research
Month Researchers Items consulted Total hours

January 159 477 378

February 143 291 293

March 192 356 423

April 175 472 507

May 145 285 313

June 143 291 369

July 141 294 301

August 133 408 313

September 119 349 285

October 131 485 248

November 117 341 234

December 109 270 170

Total 1,707 4,319 3,834
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School / Cultural  visits:

Date of visit Name of organisation No. of 
Attendees Location of activity

26/01/2017 B.A. Liberal Arts & Science 20 Head Office

16/03/2017 Stage Malta, Finance students 19 Head Office

21/03/2017 History students from St Ignatius College Secondary School 10 Head Office

04/04/2017 Education Officer and History teachers 8 Head Office

08/04/2017 Mediterranean Institute, University of Malta 25 Head Office

02/05/2017 Life Long Learning Centre, Msida 38 Head Office

04/05/2017 European Heads of Conservation 22 Head Office

11/05/2017 DLM Forum 25 Head Office

16/05/2017 St Paul’s Missionary College, Rabat, Form 2 History students 27 Head Office

18/05/2017 St Paul’s Missionary College, Rabat, Form 2 History students 26 Head Office

23/05/2017 Europeana Workshop participants 35 Around Mdina

25/05/2017 Luther College, USA 13 Head Office

09/06/2017 Mcast Restoration students 7 Head Office

16/06/2017 EUDiA 30 Head Office/Banca Giuratale

10/09/2017 Handaq Secondary School, Qormi, Form 4-5 History 
students 18 Head Office

20/09/2017 History teachers 16 Head Office

22/09/2017 History teachers 14 Head Office

28/09/2017 Association of Catholic Archivists, UK 15 Head Office

17/10/2017 Belarusian State University, History lecturers 5 Head Office

13/11/2017 Archives Management Module, University of Malta 9 Head Office

23/11/2017 U3E 15 Head Office

27/11/2017 Faculty of History, University of Malta 16 Head Office
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Outreach services

The goal of our outreach events is to increase the public awareness of our services, to emphasize the 
significance of archival records and to foster public interest in national memory.  As in previous years we 
organised public lectures, seminars, exhibitions and ensured a strong presence in the media.
 

Facebook (Uploads)   

Posts Notes Events Followers   

540 1 12 4,529   

Flickr

Total Photos 2017 Uploads Total Views Albums Following Followers

386 92 358,096 26 66 152

Twitter   

Total Tweets 2017 Tweets Following Followers   

53 17 100 90   

Issuu Online Library  

Total Publications 2017 Uplaods Followers Impressions Reads  

49 1 31 73,111 10,885  

YouTube   

Total Videos 2017 Uploads Subscribers Total views   

¯ 12 45 8,129   
 
Digitisation programme for long-term preservation of Malta’s audio-visual heritage
A collaborative agreement for long-term preservation of Malta’s audio-visual heritage, co-ordinated by the 
National Archives, kicked off in April. A collaborative agreement was signed between the National Archives, 
the Broadcasting Authority, the Department of Information, Malta Libraries, MCAST, the University of Malta 
and PBS to ensure the preservation and accessibility of their audio-visual heritage. Through this agreement, 
these public entities agreed also to plan how Malta’s cultural and creative legacy can be preserved into the 
future and save important collections from being lost.  M3P Foundation will collaborate in this programme.



27

Collaboration with the Education Division
The National Archives collaborated with the Education Division within the Ministry for Education and 
Employment in its efforts to strengthen the teaching of history in public schools. Meetings were held 
with the history Education Officer and the history option teachers who would conduct fieldwork with 
their students at the archives, focusing on identified primary sources found within our collection. Eight 
worksheets and marking schemes on the selected documents as well as the teacher's guide on how to 
plan and carry out the fieldwork were prepared.

Annual Public Lecture
The National Archives Annual Public Lecture was held on 25 October. Dr David Sutton, Director of Research 
Projects in Reading University Library since 1982, delivered the lecture Collecting literary archives and 
other private papers in Commonwealth countries.

Dr Sutton dealt mainly with three themes: primary sources for the study of literature; the diasporic 
nature of literary manuscripts; and the impact of the diaspora on the English-speaking world, in general, 
and the Commonwealth, in particular. After describing some general characteristics of literary manuscripts, 
focusing in particular on their diasporic nature, he outlined the work of the project known as the Diasporic 
Literary Archives Network between 2012 and 2015. He concluded with an assessment of the archival 
diaspora as it affects cultural and literary heritage work in Commonwealth countries.

International symposium
On the World Day for Audiovisual Heritage (27 October) we organised and hosted Imaging Imperialism, 
the Association of Commonwealth Archivists and Records Managers (ACARM)’s annual  international 
symposium.  The development of audiovisual technologies coincided with British imperialism; the height 
of the empire is documented in drawings and photographs while motion picture captured the end of 
empire and the birth of newly independent nations across the world, including Malta. This symposium 
explored the preservation and use of audiovisual archives across the Commonwealth, focusing on what 
they can tell about the nature and vestiges of imperialism. 

Minister Evarist Bartolo and Dr Esther Olembe, the Director of the National Archives of Cameroon 
addressed the symposium, followed by Njördur Sigurdsson, the Director of Acquisition and Access at the 
National Archives of Iceland who delivered the keynote address.  

Five presentations by Maltese and foreign speakers explored the preservation and use of audiovisual 
archives across the Commonwealth, with a focus on what they can tell us about the nature and vestiges 
of imperialism. The event was supported by EURBICA and ICA. 

Agreement with two 
Confraternities
On 10 November, the National 
Archives of Malta concluded 
and signed an agreement with 
the Archbishop’s Archives and 
the Tal-Karità and Tal-Karmnu 
confraternities of Valletta to 
collaborate on the conservation, 
promotion and accessibility of 
the confraternities’ archives. 
Set up in Valletta in 1610 and 
1622, Tal-Karità and Tal-Karmnu 
confraternities’ archives shed 
unique light on the religious, 
social and economic life in 
Valletta and Malta during the last 
400 years.
 



28 Works on Ġlormu Cassar Avenue, Valletta (1927-1930).  National Archives of Malta PHO 2021
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Legal Documentation Section

Sorting and Cataloguing

During the past months, 265 metres of shelving holding around 1837 boxes of records entitled Processi Appelli 
Civili and Concorsi, Libelli and Deroghe, dated 1814 to 1899, were cleaned, sorted chronologically and re-
boxed. 

This long and painstaking task was carried out with the assistance of various local students reading 
for a degree in Archives studies and foreign students who were pursuing their internship at the Legal 
Documentation Section at the Banca Giuratale, Mdina. The foreign students were Justina Aleksejūnaitė 
and Erika Klebavičiūtė (Lithuania), Tjaša Kokol and Kaja Skrt (Slovenia), and Leonita Halitjaha and Nazim 
Üstündag (Germany).

Other tasks conducted during these internships included the pagination of the Original Acts of the 
Officium Bullae SSma. Crociatae, the sorting and the cataloguing of the Suppliche related to the Supreme 
Court of Appeal between 1730 to 1798. The Suppliche records are now preserved in archival boxes. 

Archive Consultation

The number of scholars and researchers visiting the Legal Documentation Section at Mdina during 2017 
was that of 243. They consulted 757 volumes spending around 1017 hours of research. The total statistics 
indicate an increase of 42 in the number of researchers, an increase of 532 in the number of volumes 
consulted, and an increase of 258 hours of research. This increase confirms that 2017 was the best year for 
research conducted at the Mdina Banca Giuratale when compared to the last thirteen years.

Legal Documentation Research

Month Researchers Items consulted Total hours

January 9 21 24

February 9 15 24

March 35 18 134

April 13 6 52

May 24 411 96

 June 8 47 23

 July 42 38 190

 August 20 112 68

 September 43 63 214

October 31 19 165

November 6 4 22

December 3 3 5

 243 757 1,017 
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The Music of Charles Camilleri

During the past twelve months, the music of Prof Charles Camilleri was well demanded for research and 
performance locally and abroad. Pawlu ta’ Malta, a much acclaimed oratorio by Camilleri on words by 
Oliver Friggieri, premiered in 1985, was performed on the 10 of November 2017 at the Mdina Metropolitan 
Cathedral. The performance which was held under the patronage of Mgr Paul Cremona, Archbishop 
Emeritus of Malta, commemorated the 1,950 anniversary since the martyrdom of St Paul. The soloists were 
Brian Cefai, Rosabelle Bianchi and Alfred Camilleri, whereas Manwel Cauchi was the narrator. The National 
Philarmonic Orchestra was under the direction of Michelle Castelletti, together with the Amadeus Chamber 
Choir and St Julian’s Choral Group.

In the same month, the Kanti Popolari were performed by Soprano Nicola Said at the unveiling of one 
of the Fondazzjoni Wirt Artna’s latest project: the restoration of the Combined Operations Room within the 
underground headquarters in Valletta.
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Medieval Mdina Festival 2017

For the ninth consecutive year, the Banca 
Giuratale opened its doors for the annual 
Medieval Mdina Festival, organized by the 
Mdina Local Council and the Malta Tourism 
Authority which took place on Saturday 29 and 
Sunday 30 April.

This year, the National Archives presented 
an exhibition of artistic designed panels 
submitted by Prof. Marcello Piacentini 
in collaboration with Prof. Vittorio Ballio 
Morpurgo for the 1953 Competition for the 
reconstruction of the Royal Opera House in 
Valletta. The exhibition commemorated the 
75th anniversary when the Royal Opera House 
was bombed in an aerial attack.

The exposition included some important 
documented sources from the records of 
the Office of Prime Minister archived at the 
National Archives and a selection of music 
scores which once formed part of the music 
archives of the former Royal Opera House. 

A showcase for education and tourist 
attraction 

Besides the preservation and the accessibility of 
legal documents, the Banca Giuratale presents 
an outstanding showcase for education and 
tourist attraction through the ‘MEMORJA’ 
National Portrait Archive. 

During 2017, university students from the 
Faculties of Laws, Media and Knowledge 
Science and other interdisciplinary Institutes 
and Centres, including those of the Baroque 
Studies and Maltese Culture and Identity 
Studies were given a comprehensive tour 
around the halls of the Banca Giuratale.

Leonita Halitjaha and Nazim Ustundag from Berlin had a 
120-hour work experience at the Legal Documentation 
Section in Mdina. Their main tasks were to sort and re-
box the records of the Processi Appelli Civili and the 
bundles of Suppliche related to the Magnia Curiae 
Castellania.

Model of the proposal for the Royal Opera House 
submitted by Vittorio Piacentini (1881-1960) and 
Vittoria Ballio Morpurgo (1890-1966) during the 1953 
competition. National Archives of Malta.
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Gozo Section

The National Archives, Gozo Section (NAG) is the public record office for the documentation produced 
and received by past and present Government departments and establishments of the islands of 
Gozo and Comino. Circular OPM/E/82/83 issued by the Staff Development Organization of the Office 

of the Prime Minister (July 1991) lays down that “Records originated by the Ministry for Gozo,  the Gozo 
sections of Government Departments, and by public bodies established for Gozo should be deposited at 
the Gozo Section of the National Archives.”

Act V (2005) The National Archives Act enacted by the Parliament of Malta on 10 May 2005 made 
provisions for the appointment of an Assistant National Archivist for Gozo, who together with his assistants 
carry out the following tasks: 
• management of the archives; 
• appraisal of the documents created by and preserved within preserved Government establishments. 

During the year 2017, checks were carried out at the Ministry for Gozo, at a deposit with maps and plans 
of the former Public Works Department at a storeroom adjacent to Ministry for Gozo,  at the offices of 
the Sir Mikelang Refalo Sixth Form, and at the store of the Notarial Archives in the Ministry for Gozo 
complex. As a result a large number of registers of the former Government Savings Bank, thousands 
of plans and maps and a sizable amount of files were transfered to the National Archives. The Notarial 
Registers were transferred to a deposit under the joint management of the NAG and the Notarial 
Archives. 

• cataloguing of transferred documents. The help offered by Toni Calleja, a retired Archives Assistant, in 
the cataloguing of the plans and maps retrieved from the deposit of the former Public Works Department 
was very significant

• increasing the awareness by the general public aware of the heritage preserved at the Archives. During 
2017 this was carried out through an exhibition, a monthly publication of a record from the registers of 
the Universitas, the oldest section of the NAg, serialized in the monthly magazine Il-Ħajja f’Għawdex, 
and a public relations programmes.

Fonds

The NAg, up to 31 December 2017, held fonds from twenty eight different entities, each of which is 
subdivided to reflect the diverse activity carried out by the entity that created the fond. Since 2014 a 
division of digital fonds that includes documents that are either available only in digital format or are 
digitalized images of documents held at the NAG, has been applied. 

New Deposits

The acquisition of NAg DEPOSIT 02 , available on 12 December 2016 and has 266 metres of shelving,  
made possible the acquisition of new deposits. During 2017, the NAg was enriched with items in the 
following fonds:
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• AG National Archives Gozo (04 vols)
 items were added in the following section:
 AG/04 - Exhibition Catalogues (01 vol)
 AG/05 - Miscellanea (03 vols)
• CP Circulars and Posters (02 vol)
 items were added in the following section:
 CP/04 - Miscellanea (02 vols)
• GB Government Savings Bank (45 vols)
 items were added in the following section:
 GB/01 - Depositors’ Ledgers (45 vols)
• LC Local Councils (02 vols)
 items were added in the following sections:
 LC/08 - Munxar (01 vol)
 LC/12 - Xagħra (01 vol)
• MH Medical and Health (31vols)
 items were added in the following section:
 MH/01 - Building Plans and Permits (31 vols) (3,084 permits)
• PA Photographs and Albums (02 vols)
 items were added in the following section:
 PA/01 - Historic Photos (02 vols)
• PM Plans and Maps (116 items)
 items were added in the following section:
 PM/01 - Survey Sheets (96 sheets)
 items were added in the following NEW section:
 PM/14 - Miscellaneous Plans and Maps (20 items)
• SS State Schools (180 vols)
 items were added in the following NEW sections:
 SS/51 - Sixth Form–Institute for Further Studies, Applications (103 vols)
 SS/52 - Sixth Form–Institute for Further Studies, Results (56 vols)
 SS/53 - Sixth Form–Institute for Further Studies, Resignations (07 vols)
 SS/54 - Sixth Form–Institute for Further Studies, Personal Data (09 vols)
 SS/55 - Sixth Form–Institute for Further Studies, Misc Documents (05 vols)
• ZM Miscellanea (35 vols)
 items were added in the following section:
 ZM/01 - Misc volumes (from 681 to 715)

417 volumes/items were catalogued and deposited at the NAG during 2017. This is slightly more than half 
of the previous year, 810 (2016), but more than the 282 deposited in 2015. However, the 2017 acquisitions 
include 3,084 building permits that were cleaned one by one and partly catalogued, while over 5,000 plans 
and maps belonging to Public Works Department have been transferred to the NAg and are in the process 
of being catalogued. Six new sections were created in existing fonds during the year.

A major 2017 undertaking was the transfer of the Registers of the Notarial Archives, Rabat-Gozo, from 
their storage at the Ministry for Gozo.  The transfer took place on 24 April; 1300 Registers were transferred 
on that day. Another 529 Registers transferred previously (11 Feb 2016) were later on brought together with 
the rest. Thus, the total number of Registers (copies of the Acts at the Notorial Archives) is 1829. Although 
this deposit belongs to the NAG, it is jointly administered by the NAG and by the Notarial Archives.

Donations

Dr George Azzopardi of Ta’ Sannat donated old photos and old postcards of Gozo that he purposely 
purchased for the NAg. Charles Bezzina enriched the section related to the World Wars in Gozo, created 
through his donations, by more photos.

Research 

The number of researchers at the NAg during 2017 was 360, a considerable decrease from the previous 
years: 629 (2016) and 592 (2015). This sharp decrease is explained by the fact that there were over 300 
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requests for information via email during 2017. The number of research hours amounted to 447, again, less 
than the previous years: 640 (2016) and 638 (2015). The number of items consulted in situ amounted to 734, 
less than in the previous years: 860 (2016) and 1025 (2015). These figures have to be considered in view 
of the aforementioned online requests. The amount of volumes handled throughout the year amounts to 
about 4% of the NAg holdings. It must be noted that holdings are on a constant increase.

2017 monthly statistics

Month Researchers Hours of Research Number of Items

January 015 018 026

February 025 029 055

March 058 060 100

April 034 037 105

May 024 032 046

June 023 037 068

July 026 032 037

August 033 037 045

September 036 054 078

October 025 028 050

November 032 038 071

December 029 045 053

Total 360 447 734

Accessions from each fond per month (2017):

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

AG 002 009 002 002 015

CA 012 006 021 003 001 043

CC 033 007 040

CD 002 002

CG 001 007 002 007 001 001 001 020

CI

CP

CR

DF

GB

GL

GM 004 011 003 009 010 010 018 015 033 011 029 006 159

HI

IR

LC

MG

MH 007 015 019 010 017 015 005 006 003 012 017 007 133

MP 005 005

PA 002 006 002 002 001 006 010 019 011 001 060

PD 008 001 003 024 005 007 001 001 010 011 018 030 119

PM 001 002 021 006 022 001 002 002 002 002 004 065
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PO

PW

SG

SN

SS 001 003 003 007

ST 004 002 001 001 002 003 013

UG 001 013 002 003 019

ZM 003 006 001 002 010 001 003 007 001 034

TOTAL 026 055 100 105 046 068 037 045 078 050 071 053 734

During 2017, the GM-Ġuljana Masini fond proved to be the most popular for the fifth consecutive year; 
followed by the MH-Medical and Health fond in the second place; and the PD-Police Department fond in 
the third.
 

Digital Laboratory

The process of the digitization of documents at the NAG was initiated on 26 February 2013. During 2017, 
the digitalization of the fond MH Medical and Health 01/Building plans and permits continued unabated. 
The process takes time as the size of the plans and attached documents varies. At the same time, other 
images were digitized on the request of researchers.

Catalouging of Gozo Niches

Another major undertaking by the NAg is related  to the cataloguing of the niches of Gozo. Work on the 
catalogue is at an advanced stage. This project includes the compilation of a list of all niches in Gozo, 
gathering of basic information on every niche, and the photographing of each one. The first two tasks were 
undertaken by the NAg; the photography was assigned after a public call for quotations.

Group Visits

There  were four group visits to the NAg during 2017:
• on 4 April, twelve history students from the Sir Mikelang Refalo Sixth Form;
• on 29 September, twelve persons from the Catholic Archives Society of the United Kingdom;
• on 30 October, ten students from the TUM-Technical University of Munich, a research university with 

campuses in Munich, Garching, and Freising-Weihenstephan.
• on 10 November,  twenty six students of Landscape Architecture from Anhalt University of Applied 

Sciences, Dessau-Roßlau und Köthen.  

Front part of Independence Square – It-Tokk and 
the Banca Giuratale (1920s).
Photo: Amateur, Caccia-Gozo.
Donated by George Azzopardi, Ta’ Sannat (NAG).



36

Memorja

In 2016, the National Archives of Malta initiated the restructuring of the National Memory Project into 
MEMORJA, an oral, sound and visual archive intent on being the Maltese Islands’ main depositor of 
national and public memory. A strategic plan for the establishment and running of this archive has 

been developed with the assistance of Prof John Chircop, the founder and the head of the Public Memory 
Archive within the University of Malta. 

Our main objective is to employ cutting edge research, methodologies, theoretical and archival 
approaches, as well as state of the art techniques/IT, to collect, record, transcribe, preserve, and make 
available for research, interpretation, and educational reasons, and divulgate to the general public – through 
museums, schools and community spaces – community / shared and individual memories, oral history / 
traditions knowledge and experiences.

We are trying to lure the public, groups and individuals, as well as voluntary associations to record their 
experiences professionally or/and to deposit their (written or visual) biographies, oral/sound recordings and 
written material as well as family records, photos, copies of artefacts (so-called ephemera) in this archive.
A team was engaged to working on this project in January 2017. This team, composed of two full-timers 
and three part-time employees was trained in oral history and public memory recording by Professor John 
Chircop and started carrying out fieldwork soon after.

MEMORJA aims to record and collect oral history interviews, personal photographs, documents and 
other ephemera and.  Thus, the National Archives of Malta has taken over a new task as a memory-capturing 
institution, together with the traditional task of preserving public administration records.

At these early stages, four themes were selected, namely the Second World War, British expatriates in 
Malta, public administration, and the Lampedusa-Malta connection. During 2017 60 oral history interviews 
and 6 written accounts were carried out. In addition, the family of the late Louis Curmi donated his 
photographic collection to the National Archives in October 2017 where this will form part of the project.

Experiencing War: survival, shelter and food

The theme ‘Experiencing War’ aims to document and record a past which is slowly but surely disappearing 
from public memory. These recollections – of which there are still a healthy number – strive to preserve daily 
experiences as felt by the people on the ground during those terrible years.

British expatriates in Malta

‘British expatriates in Malta’, seeks to delve deeper into the history of the relationship between the United 
Kingdom and Malta by recording local history through the eyes of British and Maltese individuals during 
the final decades of British Malta. Interviewees – both British and Anglo-Maltese individuals – discuss the 
military bases, everyday life in post-war Malta, political issues and cultural differences, amongst other 
subjects. This theme was further expanded when the experiences of service families’ children started being 
recorded for posterity as well. These children had attended the Naval Children’s School and HM Dockyard 
Children’s School which had occupied sites at Ta’ Xbiex, Cottonera, Senglea and the Dockyard before 
moving to Tal-Ħandaq.
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Public Administration

Civil servants are often regarded as implementing the policies of Government from ‘behind the scenes’. Yet, 
through their memories, the public is now able to mould an idea of the structure of ‘iċ-Ċivil’ and of certain 
episodes which are now history. Background stories of the granting of Independence in 1964 and the inner 
workings of the ‘run-down’ and up to Malta’s accession to the EU are still rife and form a substantial part of 
the oral history part of the project. Other subjects tackled in these oral reminisces are former Prime Ministers, 
their work ethic and their relationships with other government officials, changes to public administration 
over the decades, different functions and grades, personal experiences and women in the civil service.

Lampedusa and Malta

A team member went to Lampedusa to conduct fieldwork and research about the connections between 
Lampedusa and Malta in September 2017.  Through the individuals that agreed to be recorded, the points 
most prevalent in Lampedusans’ memories were
•	 Stories transferred from one generation to the next regarding the first Maltese settlers in the early 

1800s. These families had worked predominantly in agriculture, although, today, two families with 
Maltese surnames remain: the de Battista family and the Caruana family.

•	 The commercial and cultural connections between Lampedusa and the Maltese Islands the 1950s and 
1980s. Testimonies of these Lampedusan fishermen make reference to life at sea, life in Valletta before 
the British departure, Strait Street, the products on sale in shops at the time and the sale of fish stocks.

Outreach

In conjunction with ongoing fieldwork practices, the National Archives of Malta has been publicising 
MEMORJA by holding lectures and public talks. Between 12th October and 7th November 2017, the Archives 
gave a weekly lecture at the University of the Third Age at Cottonera on Maltese Archival Heritage, of which 
the themes of MEMORJA played a significant part. Also, the project’s first outreach activity in Gozo was held 
at the St Cecilia chapel at the behest of the Education, Science and Culture Centre in November last year.

Alfredo Cachia 
Zammit and his 
sons Lawrence and 
Sandy, Birżebbuġa, 
1920’s
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The last good-bye, from Customs’ House, Valletta. Mr Turvey, Inspector of Riggers and to his 
right, George Caruana, Chargeman of Riggers (within the group of four men on the left)

Paul Sammut at the Licensing Department, Police Head Quarters, 
1975. Eventually Mr Sammut was appointed secretary to the Public 
Service Commission.

Frank Mifsud as a Clerk at the General Post 
Office, 1970. Eventually Mr. Mifsud was 
appointed Permanent Secretary at the Ministry 
of Health and CEO of Heritage Malta

July 1965, Grand Harbour. Wrens skin diving (Elaine 
Zerafa in flowered swimsuit)

Stephen Gallie (left) attended Tal-Ħandaq naval 
school, his mum and brothers on a windswept 
winter’s day at Mellieħa Bay, 1974

Għajn Tuffieħa, (undated and 
unidentified)
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An undated photograph of a Mauritian 
soldier in British service (name given only 
as ‘Joseph’) who gave this photo to Joseph 
Zammit from Żejtun sometime in early-1943, 
before the Allied invasion of Sicily. 

Libretto di 
Navigazione 
belonging to 
Lampedusan 
fisherman Ettore 
Raffi (photograph 
dated mid-to-late 
1970s).

Vincent ‘Ċensinu’ Caruana 
(first from left) posing for 
a photograph with some 
of his friends at the Upper 
Barrakka Gardens, 
6th February 1940. 

Alexander 
(Sandy) Cachia 
Zammit, 1941  

Townsfolk in Ħamrun celebrating the surrender 
of Italy by parading an effigy of Mussolini, 
September 1943.

Jean Borg (nee 
Despott) with Anne 
Despott and Maurice 
Despott at Tripoli 
Airport, 1943.

Sgt. Anġlu Azzopardi (Għargħur), Gnr. Joseph Psaila (Żebbuġ), 
Gnr. Vincent Caruana (Isla) at Ħal Far, late 1942.
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Supporting Organisations and Volunteers

The National Archives Council

The National Archives Council is set up in line with Article 14 of the National Archives Act (2005), which 
stipulates that this Council, appointed by the Minister, is composed of

(a) a Chairperson;
(b) the Superintendent of Cultural Heritage ex officio or his representative;
(c) the Chairperson of Heritage Malta ex officio or his representative;
(d) the National Librarian ex officio or his representative;
(e) the Permanent Secretary in the Office of the Prime Minister ex officio or his representative;
(f) a person to represent the non-governmental archives or records centres;
(g) three other persons chosen from amongst persons known to be users of and familiar with archives, 

records management and information professions, or working in non-governmental organisations 
dedicated to information and archives, one of whom shall be appointed by the Minister responsible for 
Gozo.

In line with the National Archives Act, during the year under review, the Council continued to fulfil the 
functions assigned to it by the Archives Act, mainly:
(a) to promote the National Archives and other record keeping entities;
(b) to ensure and facilitate the collaboration between the different stakeholders with direct or indirect 

responsibility for the protection and management of the archives sector;
(c) to advise the Minister on the management of archives in Malta;
(d) to draw the attention of the Minister or of any organisation or person responsible for archives to any 

urgent action that may be considered necessary for the better management of archives and records;
(e) to advise the Minister on any matter arising from the provisions of this Act and on any other matter 

referred to it by the Minister.

Council Members
Up till June 2017, the President and Members of the Council were:
President
Professor William Zammit
Members
Mr Anton Attard
Rev. Mgr. Ġwann Azzopardi
Dr Joseph Buttigieg, Chairperson of Heritage Malta
Ms Joyce Dimech, Permanent Secretary in the Office of the Prime Minister
Ms Maroma Camilleri, Deputy Librarian, Malta Libraries
Dr Anthony Pace, Superintendent of Cultural Heritage
Mr Max Farrugia
Dr Lillian Sciberras.
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As in previous years, Dr Charles J. Farrugia, the National Archivist and CEO and the Rev. Mgr. Dr Joseph 
Bezzina, Assistant National Archivist for Gozo have attended all Council meetings and have also supported 
its work by regularly updating the Council on the working of the Institution. The National Archives also 
provides all logistical support by preparing agendas for meetings, providing the offices for its functioning 
and also providing secretarial support.

During 2017, the following two priorities were brought forward from the previous year:
(a) the proposal for the building of a new National Archives;
(b) exploring possible ways on how to support private archives and private collections, and how to recover 

same collections.
The issue of the building has now assumed top priority as the proposal is now part of the Government’s 

Electoral Manifesto and work is in earnest by the National Archives to identify a site where the repository 
will be built and also the provenance of funding for such a project.  Council was also approached by Mr 
Simon Cusens who is one of Malta’s leading collectors of records and memorabilia.  He was invited to do a 
presentation to Council on how collectors look at the national archives and also suggest ways on potential 
future collaboration.

The Council met in August and October 2017.

The Friends of the National Archives

During 2017 the Friends of the National Archives kept up its main role of supporting the operations of the 
National Archives by holding meetings for its executive committee on six separate occasions: March, June, 
July, September, October and December. 

The Friends’ first public appointment came about through participation in the annual Medieval Festival in 
Mdina which was held during the weekend of 29/30 April. As in previous years members of the Association 
offered some of their free time to assist archives personnel who were on duty at the Banca Giuratale, to 
manage the flow of visitors to the archives during the two days in question.

Following the announcement in May that general elections were being held the following month, the 
committee immediately contacted all political parties and requested a formal meeting to discuss proposals 
which could be included in their electoral manifesto. The main proposition centred on the imminent priority 
for the National Archives to have a new state of the art building complete with all the latest facilities. It was 
emphasised to all parties concerned that the proposed new building was a project of national importance 
which aims to house the national memory for current and future generations.  A modern purposely-built 
environment would facilitate better conservation and access for the purposes of education and research as 
well as for the preservation of cultural heritage. Thanks to the continued insistence of the Association, this 
important proposal was included in the electoral programme of the current administration. 
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The Annual General Meeting was held on 22 June and during this event a new executive committee was 
elected, composed of the following members (in alphabetical order): Dr. Nazzareno Azzopardi, Dr. Gerald 
Bugeja, Mr. Leonard Callus, Prof. George Cassar, Mr. Ivan Ellul, Dr. Charles Farrugia, Mr. Max Farrugia, Mr. 
Martin Hampton, Ms. Doris Mangion and Dr. Evelyn Pullicino.

After the summer recess the committee formally requested an urgent meeting with the Minister for 
Education and Employment as a follow up to the communications that had taken place prior to the elections. 
A delegation from the executive committee met Minister Evarist Bartolo on 16 October, during which time 
the Minister was presented with a brief which summarized the needs of the National Archives. The outcome 
of the meeting was very positive and this ambitious project was accepted in principle by the government. 
On its part the committee reiterated the offer to support through any possible means in the implementation 
of this venture.  

Later on that month the National Archives participated in a book fair organized by Fondazzjoni Wirt 
Artna. During this event the Friends managed to increase the membership. The Friends of the National 
Archives concluded the year by participating once again in the National Book Festival which was held at 
the Mediterranean Conference Centre in November.  During this event the association continued to attract 
new members.  There were 30 new memberships; income was also generated from the sale of books and 
membership renewals. 

Volunteers

The National Archives of Malta are supported by a number of volunteers who regularly contribute their 
expertise and time; some of these volunteers have been doing so for several years.

During 2017, our longstanding volunteers Anthony Bonello, Michael Bonnici, Mary Buttigieg, Mark 
Caruana, Joseph Meli and Patrick J. Micallef continued working on several projects.  

Anthony Bonello worked on the creation and the inputting of the metadata of over 650 maps created 
by the Royal Engineers and the Museum, War and Public Works departments;  Michael Bonnici continued 
with the curation of the Pharmacy Museum; Mary Buttigieg concluded the cataloguing of the Vincenzo 
Maria Pellegrini and Mike Cassar bequests: Joseph Meli worked on the database listing historical 

articles from the local media, which 
articles can serve as a starting 
point for researchers embarking on 
research on specific topics.; Mark 
Caruana continued with the data 
input of passport applications, 
while Patrick J. Micallef intensified 
his work on the database linking 
diverse information about KOMR 
personnel.  

Norbert Gingell, a volunteer 
since 2016, sorted several Education 
Ministry files related to the beginning 
of self-government (1921 to 1940s). 
He worked also on the sorting and 
cleaning of the Police Records 
and assisted in the Conservation 
Laboratory.

During 2017, Francesca del 
Rio joined us as a volunteer at the 
Conservation laboratory; she is 
assisting in the conservation of 
the Agricultural Land Registration 
records.

Architect Michael Ellul, our oldest volunteer, had to stop giving his service to the National Archives of 
Malta.  He has worked on the catalogue of the Despatches of the Secretary of State for many years. We 
thank him for his valuable and long service to our institution.

Michael Ellul
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Prime Minister Gerald Strickland inaugurating Duke of York Avenue, Valletta (now 

Ġlormu Cassar Avenue), 1930.  National Archives of Malta PHO 2052
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EU and International Relations

EU Presidency-related Activities

During the Maltese Presidency of the Council of the European Union, the National Archives played 
their part in the organisation, the hosting and the running of several meetings.

35th Conference of the European Board of National Archivists and the 22nd Meeting of the European 
Archives Group, 27 and 28 April 2017
Within the framework of the Maltese Presidency of the Council of the European Union the National Archives 
of Malta organised and hosted the 35th Conference of the European Board of National Archivists (EBNA) 
and the 22nd Meeting of the European Archives Group (EAG) on the 27 and 28 April 2017.

The Board of National Archivists is the forum where the directors of national archives in the European 
Union share experiences and good practices. It also provides an opportunity for enhanced collaboration 
between the institutions responsible for the safeguarding of the memory of EU nations. 

On the other hand, the European Archives Group is a formal expert body of the EU advising and 
formulating policy on record keeping and archival practice.  The agenda for this meeting is agreed between 
members of the sub-group known as the EAG Programem and Coordination.  The pre-meeting for the 
Malta session for which Dr Charles Farrugia attended, was held in Brussels on 25 January 2017.

The preservation of electronic records, digitisation, emerging data protection legislation and the 
relationship between national archives and the European Union were included in the agenda of the Malta 
meetings. 
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9th  Meeting of European Heads of Conservation, 4 and 5 May 2017 
This year it was the turn of the National Archives of Malta to host the 9th Meeting of European Heads of 
Conservation. This meeting brings together leading conservators from various European Union member 
states to discuss various topics and developments related to conservation of archival holdings. 

The meeting was spread on two days, the 4th and 5th of May and was held at the National Archives Head 
Office in Rabat.  21 delegates from 16 countries discussed a draft Manual for First Line of Conservation 
before Digitisation and the challenges associated with work on documents with Iron Gall Ink.

The discussion on the first topic centred on contributions from each delegate with the aim of producing 
a Common Manual of Guidelines for Conservation Procedures on Archival Material before Digitising.  All 
participants aired their views and expounded on the approach of their institution when it comes to basic 
conservation interventions on material before embarking on a program of digitisation of a collection. A 
working committee was appointed to gather and edit the contributions with a target to have the manual 
ready by next year’s meeting in spring.  

The second topic to be discussed were the challenges associated with work on documents with iron 
gall ink. Three presentations dealing with this subject were delivered by Simon Dimech, conservator at the 
National Archives of Malta, Dr Jedert Vodopivec Tomazic from the National Archives of Slovenia and Anna 
Czajka from the Polish National Archives.  A healthy discussion followed these presentations.   

Records management challenges in a hybrid environment. 
DLM Forum, 10 and 11 May 2017 
On the 10 and 11 May, the Document Life Cycle Management 
(DLM) Forum Foundation held the two-day members’ meeting, 
organised twice a year, in order to exchange experiences 
and ideas on current trends of establishing comprehensive 
information governance over digital records. 

The National Archives of Malta, a Forum member, organised 
this meeting at the Augustinian Priory in Rabat to provide a 
forum for all stakeholders involved in the digital domain where 
they may share information about the latest developments 
and good practice focusing on the digital divide and discuss 
measures to bridge the gap between the traditional way of 
managing records and the emerging automated environment.  

Besides promoting good practice and the expertise derived 
from projects such as the E-ARK software tools developed 
by partners in the sector, the forum offered experts from industry, government and archives with similar 
responsibilities in information governance with exceptional networking opportunity. 

The Maltese dimension in terms of the lifecycle of records and the digital challenge was presented 
during the first session of the DLM Forum by MITA, the Document Management Services of Maltapost plc, 
and Aqubix.
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“Migration and Culture: how can our past educate our present?”  Annual Europeana presidency event, 23 
and 24 May 2017 
The National Archives were heavily involved in the organisation of the annual Europeana presidency event 
that was held on 23 and 24 May at Ħaġar Qim’s Visitors’ Conference centre that dealt with “Migration and 
Culture: how can our past educate our present?”   This high-level strategy meeting was primarily targeted 
at policymakers of EU member states as a means to raise awareness about what Europeana does in culture 
and education, and how it can help them in their own work. 

The main objective was to come up with concrete suggestions on how cultural heritage institutions 
and ministries of culture can actively help educate students, and more broadly European citizens, about 
migration.

It was also an opportunity to highlight a number of case studies from across Europe demonstrating 
the potential opportunities of migrants’ experience and expertise in the creation of cultural heritage and 
education.

EU Archivists of Diplomatic Archives Meeting, 15 and 16 June 2017 
The National Archives involvement in the EU Presidency events came to an end while hosting the second 
day of the EU Archivists of Diplomatic Archives’ meeting (EUDiA) at its head office.  

The National Archives supported the Ministry for Foreign Affairs in the organisation of this event through 
the participation of the national archivist and also in the preparation of a documentary about the role of 
diplomatic archives in Maltese archives in building an account of European history.  The documentary 
scripted by PBS journalist Mario Xuereb also featured documents from the Cabinet papers held at the 
National Archives.  

The second day of this European meeting was hosted entirely at the National Archives in Rabat.  Following 
a presentation on archives in Malta by the national archivist, the participants had the opportunity to tour 
the archives and also visited the Legal Documentation Section of the National Archives and the Cathedral 
Archives in Mdina. 
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International Relations

EUROPEANA Governing Board Meeting, The Hague. 27 February 2017
As part of our national obligations while Malta held the Presidency of the Council of the European Union 
there was the participation on the Governing Board of Europeana.  The National Archives appointed its 
Finance and IT Manager Mr Etienne Ferrito to participate on this board.  During the meeting held in The 
Hague governing issues such as the sustainability of Europeana and the services and opportunities it is to 
present to stakeholders were discussed.  

Meeting of the Executive Board of EURBICA, Skopje. 27-29 March 2017
Following the elections and the commitment of the new Executive Board of EURBICA to extend its influence 
and reach more to its members, an Executive Board led by its President Dr Deborah Jenkins was held in 
Skopje.  This meeting was hosted at the National Archives of Macedonia by the director Mr Felip Petrovski.  
This was followed by a meeting attended by national archivists coming from South Eastern Europe.  The 
National Archives of Malta was represented by Dr Charles J. Farrugia who will be EURBICA’s President from 
the beginning of next year.  

Meeting of the EAG/EBNA Sub Group, Brussels. 14 June 2017 
Following the Malta EAG/EBNA, the sub group in charge from the design of the agenda for the Tallin 
meeting met in Brussels.  For this meeting the National Archives of Malta was represented by the assistant 
national archivist Dr Joseph Bezzina.

EAG / EBNA Conferences in Tallinn, Estonia. 2- 23 September 2017
European national archivists met in Tallin, Estonia for their EAG and EBNA meetings.  This meeting followed 
the highly successful ones in Valletta in April.  The Estonian Presidency led discussions focusing on the most 
topical issues in the European Archives domain including the Code of Conduct related to Data Protection 
and e-Archiving.  The Maltese archives sector was represented by Dr Charles J. Farrugia for the Tallin 
meetings.

A highlight of the meeting for national archivists in Estonia was the tour to the new archives facility in 
Tartu. It is a facility that will accommodate 43 kms of records and provides the necessary facilities for public 
services and the back office infrastructure. The front facade is covered by an artistic work by an Estonian 
artist depicting a maze, representing the search for knowledge any user of archival services embarks upon. 

EUROPEANA meeting – “Developing impact goals for cultural heritage”, Tallinn, Estonia. 4-5 October 
2017
Leonard Callus participated in this policy event held under the auspices of the Europeana DSI3 that sought 
to familiarise the participants with the Europeana Impact Framework and explore potential impact goals 
for digital cultural heritage. A set of actionable policy recommendations for further development under the 
European Year of Cultural Heritage for publication during the Austrian Presidency in 2018, were explored.

Second  Meeting of the Commission Expert Group on Digital Culture Heritage and EUROPEANA (DCHE), 
Luxembourg. 13-14 November 2017
National Archives manager on Finance and IT Mr Etienne Ferrito participated at the Experts’ Group in 
Luxembourg.  The Group continued the discussion on the progress with digitisation in Member States and 
also the outcomes of the annual reporting on the sector.  
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The 1924 Valletta Lay-Out Competition

A late night debate

M onday, 3 December 1923. It was late, 10.00 pm at the Governor’s Palace in Valletta. The members 
of the Maltese Legislative Assembly1 who were meeting at the Tapestry Chamber were getting 
jumpy.  The debate on the 1924 budget that started at 2.30 pm seemed to be never-ending.   

At long last Francesco Buhagiar (Unione Politica Maltese), the Head of the Ministry2 who doubled up 
as minister for justice and as minister for the Treasury, introduced the “last” vote: Vote XII (Miscellaneous 
Services - £2,000).  

It was “not reasonable” to have such debate “after talking for eight hours”3, retorted Gerald Strickland 
(Constitutional Party).

The minister for public works, Giovanni Adami (Unione Politica Maltese) forged ahead explaining 
Government’s plan to vote £2,000 for competition about the design and use of the tract of land between 
City Gate and Floriana.

This area, together with others in Cottonera, was recently transferred to Government following an 
arbitration carried out in March 1922.  This exercise, led by Sir Edgar Harper, was tasked to consider several 
issues, including what lands and buildings held by the War Department and the Admiralty were no longer 
required for defence purposes and could be handed over to the Government of Malta.

Dr Adami emphasized that Government was determined to avoid an earlier “disaster”4 when areas in 
Sliema had been developed without a master plan. He went on to elaborate that this Valletta lay-out should 
include monumental works, public buildings and workmen dwellings.

Although it was late, a hot debate followed. No one was against the need of a holistic design of the 
area or contrary to a competition; the disagreement was on whether foreign architects were to be allowed 
to compete.

Edwin Vassallo (Constitutional Party), who happened to be an architect, complained that it was 
“humiliating that a competition of such importance should be open to foreign architects as well”5 and 
indicated that the Chamber of Architects would protest against Government’s decision6.

Walter Salomone (Constitutional Party) suggested a compromise: a first chance should be given to 
Maltese architects, and if not successful, the Government would then invite foreign ones. This would be 
even more “humiliating”, remarked Enrico Dandria (Unione Politica Maltese).

The only member of the Legislative Assembly who had something to say on the technical side of the 
project was Gerald Strickland: “The most difficult part of the project is the levels; the fortifications are 
of massive character, levels are abrupt, and I do not see how any foreign architect could prepare these 
models. Unless plans are drawn to scale showing the perpendicular as well as the horizontal scale of the 
fortifications, it would be difficult for any architect to prepare designs and plans. Competition should be 
restricted only to Maltese architects”.

Concluding the debate, the Minister of Works remarked that after studying the matter in detail he was 
“not quite sure if local architects have had any experience of such key plans”7. He was not willing to let 
the whole nation suffer by heeding to exaggerated nationalism8. An international competition was to be 
organised with rules and conditions, known by all and binding on all participants.

The debate ended at 10.30 pm. 
The competition was launched ten months later.

1  While the 1921 Constitution granted self-government to the Maltese Islands in local affairs, it refrained from using the word Par-
liament to avoid any perception that the country was less of a colony. It also did not use the term Prime Minister (called Head of 
Ministry) and there was no reference to the Cabinet of Ministers.  The first time that these three conventions featured in a consti-
tution awarded to Malta by the British colonial authorities was only in 1961, although Maltese officers used them quite liberally in 
their exchanges. See infra 2 and 13.

2 Now called Prime Minister.  See infra 1.
3 Debates Legislative Assembly, 3 December 1923.
4 “disastro pel paese”. Debates Legislative Assembly, 3 December 1923.
5 Debates Legislative Assembly, 3 December 1923.
6 During the Legislative Assembly debate of 23 March 1925, Minister Adami answered a question by Edwin Vassallo about whether 

Government was willing to table the exchanges between Government and the Antiquities Committee about the preservation of 
the “historical fortifications” in the area.  Giovanni Adami answered that he had no objection that any member of the Assembly 
see the correspondence but was not willing to publish them, presumably because at the time the competition was open. 

7 “Non so se gli ingengneri locali abbiano avuto alcuna esperienza di questi piani regolatori”, Debates Legislative Assembly, 3 
December 1923.

8 “io non vorrei che per dare ansa ad uno spirito esagerato di nazionalismo dovesse poi soffrire la nazione intera, perchè credo che 
questo è un lavoro superiore alle nostre piccolo forze.” Debates Legislative Assembly, 3 December 1923.



49

The call

On 2 October 1924, the Malta Government Gazette published a notice inviting architects to submit designs 
“for the lay-out of the open spaces and fortifications situated between Valletta and Floriana and of those 
encircling the Floriana bastions”9.

Participating architects were to submit proposals for:
1. the general lay-out of the (a) streets, (b) squares and open spaces including those portions of the 

fortifications which were to be retained for archaeological, monumental and recreational purposes; (c) 
and areas allocated to high-class grouped dwellings and detached villas, workmen dwellings, industrial 
and other buildings including schools10, shops and theatres;

2. improvement of the main approach from Valletta to Floriana and the area around City Gate;
3. a “first class modern hotel”11 accommodating 200 guests; and
4. new Courts of Justice, as near as possible to City Gate. This building would include the Notarial Archives, 

the Archives of the Order and the Public Registry.

It was emphasized that the bastions could not be demolished “but may be partially opened to give 
effect to the improvements of the gates and of the formation of roads across them.”12

In order to be eligible, applicants had to be architects holding the Malta Government warrant of the 
profession of engineer and architect, or members of the Royal Institute of British Architects or one of its 
allied societies, or architects holding such warrant by their respective governments. No assessor engaged 
upon this competition or any of their employees could compete or assist competitors, or act as architect or 
joint architect for the purpose.

£1,000 and £500 were set as prizes to the competitors who placed first and second, while £100 was 
being offered to each of the three remaining submissions that were considered “to show conspicuous 
merit”13. Originally, a premium of £800 was being offered to the person placing first, £400 to the competitor 
placing second and £25 for the third, fourth and fifth placing14.

Competitors were to send their application by 1 December 1924;  they had to submit their proposals 

9 The Malta Government Gazette, 2 October 1924, 6711, pp 908-913.
10 The Minister for Public Instruction and the Minister of Public Works exchanged correspondence on the proposed construction of 

a new Lyceum “as close as possible to Kingsgate”. The Lyceum should have had class-room space for 800 pupils, on the basis of 
about 25 pupils per class-room, offices for the headmaster and staff, a conference hall, library, quarters for the headmaster and 
the caretakers, a recreation ground and a tennis court. The headmaster of the Lyceum thought the number of 800 students was 
excessive and ample for Malta. “A larger number than 700 would have practically the effect of ‘killing’ many private schools where 
really good work is being done. I think it is best in the interest of education to keep private schools alive. The more varied and 
widespread education is, the better for the country in the end.” NAM/MW/85/1924.

11 The building of a first-class hotel in the area had already been mooted in 1902 and tenders were issued for the purpose, Despatch 
54, Grenfell to Chamberlain (20 February 1902), NAM/Gov 1/3/11. In February, 1923, Antonio Cassar Torreggiani submitted a 
“confidential” request for concession of a Government-owned land “for the erection of an up-to-date hotel”. Mr Antonio Dalli, 
then Minister for Public Works and Agriculture remarked that the concession should be put up to a public competition. NAM/
MW/156/1923.

12 The Malta Government Gazette, 2 October 1924, 6711.
13 The Malta Government Gazette, 2 October 1924, 6711. This condition was endorsed by the Antiquities Committee when consult-

ed, following a decision by Cabinet, on the competition’s conditions (see NAM/PW/548/1923).  This committee also proposed the 
inclusion of a statement against the demolition of Porta Reale; however this was not included in the final call. See also infra 24.

14 NAM, GMR 852.

Giovanni Adami (1886-
1935). Member of the 
Legislative Assembly. 
Minister for Public 
Works (October 1923 
- August 1927). Photo: 
National Archives of 
Malta.

Edwin Vassallo (1889-
1941). Member of the 
Legislative Assembly. 
Minister for Public 
Works (August 1927 
- June 1930). Photo: 
National Archives of 
Malta.
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Royal Institute of British 
Architects’ reply to the 
Ministry for Public Works 
following the latter’s 
request for assessors in 
view of the Valletta Lay-
Out Competition.
National Archives of Malta, 
GMR, 852.

Minister Adami’s reply 
to the Royal Institute 
of British Architects’ 
communication about the 
assessors for the Valletta 
Lay-Out Competition.
National Archives of Malta, 
MW, 45, 1924.
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for the general lay-out with levels and contours and sketch plans of the Courts proposal by 30 June 1925.  
No perspective drawings were allowed, and reports were to be drawn up in English, Italian or French. All 
plans and documents submitted by competitors were to become the property of the Government of Malta.

Strict means for concealing the identity of competitors were put in place. The submitted documents and 
designs were not to be signed but were to bear a motto or a distinguishing mark. The name and address 
were to be submitted in another sealed envelope together with an indication of the motto used.  These 
envelopes would be then opened by the Minister for Public Works in the presence of two witnesses within 
ten days from the publication of the assessors’ report.

The competition’s assessors, whose decision was final, were Edward Warren and Patrick Abercrombie15. 
Edward Prioleau Warren (1856 – 1937) was an architect and archaeologist. He was added to the list of 

architects authorised to work on the Grosvenor Estate in London in 1901. During the First World War he was 
seconded to the Serbian Army, and designed the War Cemetery at Basra. In 1916, he was said to have had 
considerable experience of hospital construction. He was well known for hospital and church construction 
and for domestic buildings in the revival of English 17th century styles; his main works were lodgings for 
Oxford colleges and minor country houses. 

Patrick Abercombie (1879-1957) trained as an architect.  In 1915 he became Professor of Civic Design at 
the Liverpool University School of Architecture and later Professor of Town Planning at University College 
London,. He made designs for Dublin city centre and replanned Plymouth, Hull, Bath, Edinburgh and 
Bournemouth. Sir Patrick is best known for the post-Second World War replanning of London through 
the County of London Plan (1943) and the Greater London Plan (1944), commonly referred to as the 
Abercrombie Plan. 

Participation in the call

Thirty five architects submitted a valid application to participate in this Valletta lay-out competition by 1 
December 1924.  

Silvio Mercieca, Carmelo Chetcuti, Gustavo R. Vincenti, Emmanuele Borg, Alberto Laferla, Andrea 
Vassallo, Giuseppe Psaila, Michele Borg Costanzi, Giuseppe Cachia Caruana, Carlo Manara and J.L. Cassar16 
were the Maltese applicants.

Besides the Maltese architects, another twenty four applied in time to take part in the contest17: eight 
from the United Kingdom18, six from France19, three from Sweden20, two from Italy21, one from Germany22, 
three from Tunisia23, and one from Tripoli24.

There were other prospective candidates whose application was not accepted as it was not received 
within the prescribed time limit. The Secretary of State for the Colonies informed the Ministry of Works that 
a letter had been received from Vienna at the Foreign Office in London, stating that a number of Austrian 
architects requested to be included in the list of applicants25. Their request was refused since they did not 
submit their application in time.  Applications by Hungarian26 and Polish27 architects were refused for the 
same reason.

Between December 1924 and June 1925 the Public Work ministry was busy answering queries from 
prospective applicants, through the assessors, who were preparing their submissions.  Requests varied from 
questions about the public sentiment vis-à-vis City Gate to the desirability of a Stock Exchange, a synagogue 
and public baths to information about Maltese construction methods. Government also indicated that “a 
theatre or Kursaal suitable for summer and winter, to accommodate 700 persons would be desirable”28 on site. 

15 In January, 1924, the Minister of Works, Giovanni Adami, wrote to the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA), informing them 
that the Malta Government intended to launch a competition for designs for the improvement of the approaches to Valletta, and 
requested the names of two assessors to judge the competition. RIBA suggested Edward Warren and Patrick Abercrombie.

16 JL Cassar was a Maltese architect working in Egypt.
17 NAM, GMR 852.
18 James Burford; John McNicol; Hunter Crawford & Williamson; Clarke Forshaw & Vallis; R.B. Walker; Lanchester Lucas & Lodge; CS 

Righton; H. Hughes. 
19 A. Tulasne; Jacques Alleman; E. Molinie; R. Danger; G Anibali; L. Guidinez.
20 D. Dahl; E. Garberg; F. Wetterqvist.
21 S. Bertinelli; L Crociani.
22 K.A.A. Ansari.
23 B. & H. Barsotti; I. Sansone; L. Grammatico.
24 U. Di Segni.
25 NAM/MW/88/1925.
26 NAM/HOM/424/1924.
27 NAM/MW/1106/1924.
28 NAM/MW/45/1924.
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Eventually, fourteen designs were validly submitted by the end of June 1924: six Maltese, three from the 
United Kingdom, two French, two Italians and a Swede29.

The assessment

On 28 June 1925 Mr Warren and Prof Abercrombie arrived in Malta on the P&O steamer ‘Dumana’ to 
assess the Valletta Lay-Out Competition entries. They submitted their report to the Minister of Public Works 
Giovanni Adami on 10 July. 

The first prize of £1,000 was awarded to the British firm of architects Messrs James Burford & S. Rowland 
Pierce, the second (£500) to the French architect M. René Danger, and an indemnity of £100 each to the 
French architect Jacques Allemens, the Italian architect working in Tunisia Umberto di Segni and to Alberto 
Laferla, the only Maltese architect to earn an honourable mention.

The assessors stated that most designs “have shown a successful handling of several of the many difficult 
problems involved, whether practical or aesthetic, while respecting the conditions imposed”30. 

In judging the submitted schemes, they divided the area into three.

29 Despatch 235, Congreve to Amery (10 November 1924), NAM/GOV/1.
30 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, lvi.

Section of the Harper Area included in the Valletta Lay-Out Competition of 1924. Photo: National Archives of Malta PHO 2003. 
Inset: The same area in the mid 1960’s (left) and 2018 (right). 
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Porta Reale and the fortifications flanking this gateway from the Grand Harbour to that of Marsamxett, 
which is bounded by a line running from the Grand Harbour through the Upper Barrakka, the Auberge 
de Castille and along South Street was considered as the “most important area”. “This area contains 
the supremely important feature of the final and central land approach to Valletta with its most striking 
fortifications and their ditches, as well as several important civil and military buildings, and many open 
spaces, avenues and gardens, which though capable of considerable improvement, form at present the 
nucleus of a stately and effective approach to the capital”31.

Horns Works, Crown Work and the northwest, including part of Floriana and Portes des Bombes made 
up the second area.

The third section included the northeast and contained the bastions of St Luke, St Philip and St James, 
Notre Dame fortifications, part of Pietà Creek and parts of Floriana. 

With regards the first area, the assessors dwelled particularly on the proposals related to the immediate 
approaches to Porta Reale from Floriana, City Gate itself, and the space immediately behind. 

The winning entry considered that the Porta Reale “in its present form is not adequate to the necessities 
of modern traffic, and that any structural alterations to it, such as the removal of the central pier and the 
conversion of the two arches into one, would destroy its character without providing a full solution of the 
problem presented”32. The proposed solution was the widening of the approach bridge, the reconstruction 

31 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, lvii.
32 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, ix.



54 Replies by the Public Works Department to queries submitted by the competition assessors. National Archives of Malta MW, 45, 1924.
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James Burford & S. Rowland Pierce’s submission (detail) that placed first in the Valletta Lay-Out Competition, 1924. 
National Archives of Malta PHO, 1872.

Another detail of  James Burford & S. Rowland Pierce’s submission. National Archives of Malta PHO, 1873.
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of the Gate33 and the retention of the “two statues and principal decorative features and inscriptions, which 
should by historical association be incorporated in the new work”34. 

René Danger, who placed second, was more drastic in his proposals, and curtly suggested that “this 
Gate, built in 1853, presents no historic or archaeological interest and its dismantling for the purpose of 
improving the approach to Valletta is a proposition that may perfectly well be entertained”35. Porta Reale 
would therefore be pulled down and replaced by a wider Gate, which would allow double the amount of 
traffic. The bridge would be widened accordingly.

In his report Alberto Laferla suggested the demolition of the existing gate and the construction of a new 
wider one, “masculine and stern”36 to harmonise with the bastion walls to which it clings. Laferla claimed 
that he drew his inspiration for its architectural details from Bramante’s Belvedere in the Vatican Gardens, 
and stressed the point that it should “recall the achievements of the Great Siege and immortalise in stone 
and marble the glorious Order of the Knights of Malta”37. He proposed a design for the façade fronting 
Strada Reale to harmonize with the Royal Opera House and Palazzo Buttigieg-Francia38. He also suggested 
two additional entry points into Valletta through tunnels, one in line with Strada Forni and underneath St 

33 The demolition of the 1853 Porta Reale had been mooted earlier.  It was seriously considered by the Government in 1902, and re-
vived in March 1922 in the Legislative Assembly, when Vincenzo Farrugia (Labour Party) asked the Minister of Public Works whether 
the Government could sanction the “demolition of the Gate and adjacent steps on both sides, and the building instead of shops, 
and reconstructing the bridge, so that immediate employment may be given to the unemployed’. Antonio Dalli, then Minister of 
Public Works replied that the Gate was still at the time in the possession of the military authorities; in the event of the Gate being 
returned to the Civil Government, the Government would not fail to consider Farrugia’s proposal. Minister Dalli added that in 1902 
the Government had prepared a plan and a model for such project which could (then) still be seen at the Minister’s office.

34 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, ix.
35 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, xix.
36 “maschia e severa”, Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 

1925, pg xxxiv.
37 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, pg xxxiv.
38 Known now as Palazzo Ferreria. It currently houses the Ministry for the Family, Children's Rights and Social Solidarity and several 

commercial outlets.

Details of Rene Danger’s submission that placed second in the Valletta Lay-Out Competition, 1924. 
National Archives of Malta PHO 1884
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James’ Cavalier, and the other in line with Strada Mercanti planned to run under the Cavalier of St John.
Other competitors were for the demolition of the Porta Reale Curtain. Jacques Alleman recommended 

the retention of the Gate “solely as a souvenir, and architecturally of no great value, and if considered 
advisable it may be removed”39. 

Umberto Di Segni expressed a totally different opinion stressing that he put aside the notion for the 
demolition of the Gate “because much more than its artistic significance and its architectural and sculptural 
merits is its historical and national importance”. He proposed instead a breach of 11.25m on either side of 
the bastion walls with the consequent complete isolation of the Gate40.

All the schemes proposed a wide square outside the Gate, flanked by the Courts of Justice in St James’ 
Ditch, and the first-class hotel to the north-west. The placing of the hotel and of the Law Courts building 
within the proposed schemes in the Porta Reale area varied considerably between the different proposals 
submitted by the competitors. The square was to form a focal point to the new arterial approach road from 
the direction of Floriana. 

The assessors concluded that “though several clever and interesting solutions for improvement and 
embellishment to the Gate have been presented, we feel that none of those indicated are quite satisfactory 
in regard to two important points: (1) the actual retention of the existing gateway or the substitution of a 
modernized form of same, and (b) hesitation to plan a wide and imposing space within the walls.”41

39 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, pg xl.
40 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925, pg xlv.
41 Report and Other Papers relating to the Valletta Lay Out Competition, Malta Government Printing Office, 1925., pg lviii

Details of Alberto Laferla’s submission. Laferla was the only Maltese architect who was rewarded in the Valletta 
Lay-Out Competition, 1924. National Archives of Malta PHO 1886
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....and then

In less than two weeks42 after Warren and Abercrombie submitted their report, the Antiquities Committee 
set up sub-committee to examine the rewarded five schemes. 

Following three meetings, on 18 August 1925 this sub-committee submitted a sobering assessment of 
the outcomes. It opined that Burford & Pierce’s scheme, that ranked first, “alters the features of the existing 
system of fortifications”, while the proposed buildings in some fortifications “are undesirable from the 
antiquities point of view”43.

With regards to René Danger’s proposals, the sub-committee remarked that the fortifications were 
“sensibly tampered with”44.

Objections were raised with regards to Laferla’s, Alleman’s and Di Segni’s proposals, varying from 
“undesirable” to “most objectionable.”45

This report ended on the desk of the Superintendent of Public Works, Major James A. Galizia who on 
26 November 1925 expressed to his minister his “full agreement as to the desirability of leaving as much as 
possible of original fortifications intact.”46 However he added that it was “useless to disguise the fact that a 
lay-out worthy of the name is to be carried out some interference with such outworks as lunettes and fausse 
braye cannot possibly be avoided.”47

Minster Adami suggested that such “important matter be discussed in Cabinet at an early date” 48. Ugo Mifsud, 
then Head of Ministry, recommended a meeting between the Public Works Minister, the Superintendent of Public 
Works James A. Galizia, the Chief Civil Engineer Frederick Charles Bonavia and the Antiquities Committee. The 
latter suggested that Robert Galea and Vincenzo Bonello represent the committee at the meeting.

42 The sub-committee was set up on 21 July 1925 and was composed of Temi Zammit, Robert V. Galea, Hannibal Scicluna, Carmelo 
Rizzo and Vincenzo Bonello.  NAM/MW/836/1925.

43 NAM/MW/836/1925.
44 NAM/MW/836/1925.
45 NAM/MW/836/1925.
46 NAM/MW/214/1926.
47 NAM/MW/214/1926.
48 NAM/MW/214/1926.  See infra 1.

James A. Galizia (1876-1962). Superintendent of Public Works 
(1921 - 1930). Photo: National Archives of Malta.

Alfonso Drago (1882-1935). Engineer at the Public Works 
Department. Photo: National Archives of Malta.
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In the meantime, the Antiquities sub-committee put its foot down.  In a letter to Enrico Dandria, the 
Minister for Public Instruction, it emphasized on the need of “maintaining intact the complete system of our 
fortifications which form one of the most characteristic features of our Island. For this reason they strongly 
object to the filling up of the ditches and to the destruction of any section of the outworks which are an 
integral part of the said system.”49

Galizia was getting exasperated. On one hand, he was being asked to prepare a scheme for the area 
considering the outcome of the competition, while on the other the Antiquities Committee was adamant 
against any intervention on the fortifications.

On 11 June 1926, he wrote to his minister50 that “if the Antiquities Committee are not prepared to 
depart from the stand they have taken up, and if Government decides that all considerations must give 
way to historical and antiquarian objections, I think that no useful purpose can be served by holding the 
proposed meeting.  The PWD might in that case adapt the Lay-Out scheme to the limits indicated by the 
AC.  In such case, I am afraid we can hardly escape the criticism that the International Competition had no 
sufficient raison d’être.”51

49 Letter by Temi Zammit to Enrico Dandria, 25 May 1926. NAM/MW/214/1926
50 At the time Ugo Mifsud was serving as Minister of Public Works ad interim since  Minister Adami was  away. 
51 NAM/MW/214/1926.

June 17, 1927. The Duke of York laying the foundation stone of Ġlormu Cassar Avenue. The road formed part of the scheme drawn up 
by Alfonso Drago for the Lay-Out of the Harper Area “based on the main features of the premiated designs” of the 1924 international 
competition. Photo: National Archives of Malta, PHO 1919.



60

In an effort to break the deadlock a meeting was held on 28 August 192652 to decide on the “broad lines 
to what extent, having regard to all circumstances, interference with the system of fortifications as it now 
stands, should be permissible.”53

It was agreed that while no alterations in the fortifications were permissible, these may be “partially 
opened up” to improve gateways and to construct roads across them.”  Glacis could be built upon as long 
as the buildings do not break the line of the fortifications behind them.  Porta Reale was to be maintained 
although gaps could be left on its sides “for the convenience of traffic.”54

"The Public Works Department was entrusted with the preparation of a scheme for the lay-out of the 
Harper area in and outside Valletta, based on the main features of the premiated designs in the international 
competition held last year. The scheme which was drawn up by Alfonso Drago, Public Works Department 
engineer, received the sanction of the government, after public exhibition in the Auberge de France for one 
month, and a sum of £75,000 was apportioned under Act 1 of 1927, to give effect to the first section of the 
scheme, viz: the construction of a new road of approach to Valletta and a construction of a bridge over St 
James's Ditch."55

52 The meeting included Ugo Mifsud (Head of Ministry), Giovanni Adami (Minister for Public Works), Enrico Dandria (Minister for 
Public Instruction), Temi Zammit (Museum Director), Robert V. Galea (Member of the Antiquities Committee), James A. Galizia 
(Superintendent of Public Works) and Frederick Charles Bonavia (Chief Civil Engineer). 

53 NAM/MW/214/1926.
54 This line of action enabled the first project in the area: the construction of the Ġlormu Cassar Avenue, then called Duke of York as 

the foundation stone was laid on 17 June 17 1927 by the Duke of York.
55 Reports on the Workings of the Government Departments during the Financial Year 1926-27.  NAM, GMR 1014.
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Works on the Ġlormu Cassar Avenue, 1927-
1930. Photos: National Archives of Malta PHO 
2016 (overleaf), PHO 2032 (above).

2018 view of Ġlormu Cassar Avenue (left).
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Unaudited Financial  Statements 2017

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2017 2016

Notes € €

Income

Government Subvention
Funds from the Ministry for Gozo
Other Income

2
3
4

650,000
88,457
46,932

550,000
84,639
14,825

Total recurrent income 785,389 649,464

Operational Costs
Administrative Expenses

Stat I
Stat II

(680,099)
(87,034)

(583,182)
(80,565)

Surplus (Deficit) before Interest 18,256 (14,283)

Interest receivable 7 10 80

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 18,266 (14,203)
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Notes € €

ASSETS
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 9 109,805 105,888

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 10 3,404 23,866

Cash at bank 184,357 64,036

187,759 87,902

Total Assets 297,566 193,790

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES
Accumulated fund

- Recurrent vote and operating activities 11 116,156 97,890

116,156 97,890

Long Term Liabilities
Deferred Income 5,000 65,081

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Trade and other payables
Accruals, other payables and Deferred Income

962
175,448

3,063
      27,756

12 181,410 95,900

Total Reserves and Liabilities 297,566 193,790

Statement of Changes in Accumulated Fund
Recurrent vote & 

operating activities
Accumulated 

Fund

€ €

Financial period 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2017 97,890 97,890

Surplus for the year 18,266 71,450

Balance at 31 December 2017 116,156 169,340
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Statement of Cash Flows

2017 2016
Notes € €

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Surplus (Deficit) for the Financial Year before transfer 
of depreciation.

18,266 (14,203)

Adjustments for:
   Release of Grant (36,297) (6,768)

   Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
   Interest Receivable

24,739
(10)

31,450
(80)

Operating profit before working capital changes   6,698 10,399
   (Increase) / Decrease in Debtors 20,464 (20,729)

   Increase / (Decrease) in Creditors (2,101) 9,924

Cash generated from operations
Interest Received

25,061
10

(406)
80

Net Cash from Operating Activities 25,071 (326)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

   Purchase of Tangible assets
   Deferred Income Grants

(28,656)
   123,916                              

  (39,025)
70,000

Net Cash from Investing Activities 95,260 31,055

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 120,321 30,649

Cash and cash equivalents at the Beginning 
of the Year

64,036 33,387

Cash and cash equivalents at the End of the Year 13 184,357 64,036
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below:

Accounting convention and basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and under the historical cost convention

Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Gains and losses on disposal of tangible fixed assets are determined by reference to their carrying 
amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit.

Depreciation is provided for on the straight–line method in order to write off the cost of each asset 
to its residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Improvements to Premises    15%

Passengers Lift    15%

Shelving    15%

Motor Vehicles 12.5%

Climate Control Equipment    10%

Computer Equipment    20%

Computer Software    33%

Office Equipment    10%

Furniture and Fittings    10%

Cash and Cash equivalents
Cash in hand and at banks and short-term deposits which are held to maturity are carried at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash in hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly 
liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand 
and deposits at banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Creditors  
Amounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the company.

2. Government Subvention
Amounts advanced by Government for recurrent expenditure are made in the form of subventions 
from the Consolidated Fund in accordance with Section 20 of the National Archives Act.  In 
accordance with the selected accounting policy, these amounts are accounted for upon an accrual 
basis. 
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3. Funds from Ministry for Gozo
In 2007 an agreement was reached with the Ministry for Gozo to transfer monies from its vote to 
the National Archives of Malta to finance the Gozo branch’s employment costs and contribute 
towards its general and administrative running costs. 

4. Other Income
Other income is mainly generated from photocopy services, digital images, sale of publications 
and advertising in the newsletter

5. Payroll costs and personnel information
2017 2016

€ €

Wages and Salaries 546,495 471,510

Social Security contributions 39,464 34,102

585,959 505,612

Number of employees as at period end:

Full time 21 17

Part time 3 5

24 22
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
6. Surplus (deficit) before interest
The surplus (deficit) before interest is stated after charging:

2017 2016
€ €

Staff Costs (Note 5) 585,959 505,612

Depreciation of tangible assets (Note 9) 24,739 31,450

Auditors’ remuneration 2,006 2,006

7. Interest Receivable
2017 2016

€ €
Bank Interest 10 80

8. Taxation
The National Archives of Malta is exempt from any liability for the payment of income tax in 
accordance with Section 13 of the National Archives Act, 2005.
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10. Trade and Other Receivables

2017 2016
€ €

Trade Receivable 425 425

Prepayments 2,9 79 23,441

3,404 23,866

11. Accumulated Funds

Capital Vote

The Capital Vote represents assets taken over from Government, net of depreciation.

Recurrent vote and operating activities

The recurrent vote and operating activities represent the accumulated deficit or surplus resulting 
from operations.

12. Trade and other payables

2017 2016
€ €

Amounts falling due within one year:

Payables 962 3,063

Accruals and Deferred Income 175,448 27,756

176,410 30,819

13. Cash and Cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and balances with banks.
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Statement   I
Operational Costs

2017 2016

€ €

Salaries and Social Security                                                     585,959 505,612

Water and Electricity 7,916 7,088

Insurance 1,622 2,238

Telecom Expenses 6,713 6,264

Cleaning Expenses 15,983 15,342

Repairs office equipment 517 -

Office Expenses 12,850 7,574

Repairs and Upkeep 23,800 7,614

Depreciation Charge:-

   Furniture and Fittings 11,710 16,110

   Climate Control Equipment 347 -

   Computer Equipment 2,961 8724

   Office equipment 3,568

   Improvements to Premises 3,592 2,972

   Fire Alarm System 2,561 -

   Motor Vehicles - 3,644

Total Operational Costs 680,099 583,182
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Statement   II
Administrative Expenses

      2017       2016
      €       €

Rent 23,742 24,179

Staff related expenses 1,632 1,163

Motor Vehicle Expenses 2,345 2,509

Printing, postage and stationery 3,415 8,849

Audit Fee 2,006 2,006

Professional fees 31,976 11,119

Conservation Lab Expenses and Records Management 4,758 12,815

Traveling 9,954 9,873

Subscriptions and Brochures 3,198 3,625

Miscellaneous Expenses 3,456 3,967

Bank Charges 515 342

Equipment hire - 118

Advertising 37 -

Total Administrative Expenses 87,034 80,565
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